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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

TRYR RS

Dear shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”),

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of
Sandmartin International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The financial performance of the Group was not satisfactory for the year ended

1 December 2022. The 2019 novel coronavirus pandemic (the “Pandemic”)
continued to have negative impacts on the business and operations of the
Group. During the year, the outbreak of variants of novel coronavirus in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”" or “China”) as well as the related
epidemic prevention measures, inevitably affected the productions of the
Group and led to the delay in shipment of products to the Group’s customers
in the North America. With the global shortage of microchips and integrated
circuits, and the increases in material costs, such as copper, aluminum and
plastic materials, the profit margins of the Group's products have declined
when compared with the same corresponding period in 2021. The Group has
taken some measures to mitigate the unfavourable impacts arising from the
Pandemic, including but not limited to sourcing from different suppliers and

adjusting the logistics structures.

The outbreak of the Pandemic also had adverse impact on the revival of
tourism sector and economic sentiment in Nepal which led to the decrease
in number of subscribers of Dish Media Network Limited (“Dish Media”, the
Company's associate and the largest satellite pay television operator in Nepal).

The ongoing China-US trade war still has some negative impacts on the
operations of the Group and the Group mitigates the impacts by sourcing
from suppliers in Southeast Asia, serving the purpose of avoiding the excessive
tariffs imposed by the United States (the “US") on products from China.

¥ For identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Although the global economy is gradually recovering from the Pandemic,
the geo-political and geo-economic tensions are yet to be resolved.
Given these volatilities and challenges, the Group will continue to adopt a
prudent approach in managing its cash flows position and will make every
endeavour to identify business opportunities with promising potential in the
manufacturing segments in emerging markets or even other sectors so as to

diversify our income source to weather adverse economic cycle.

Besides, the Group has gradually outsourced its production to suppliers
in Vietnam since 2018, hence the Group has been exploring opportunities
to increase the investment return of the production plants located on an
industrial land in Zhongshan; therefore, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Guangdong Huasuan International Industrial Park Investment
Development Co., Lid* (EREAEEHNBRELXRKREEEAR A A)
(“Huasuan”) in July 2021.

Going forward, the Board believes that the growth of the Group will depend on
business opportunities arising from new 5G peripherals, Internet of Things and
related products. In anticipation of such business opportunities, the Group's
research and development team is developing new 5G related products with
reference to the market trend. New products under development include next
generation radio frequency and antenna products. The Group's research and
development team is working on these products in the research center in
Hsinchu, Taiwan.

To strengthen the financial position and improve the liquidity of the Group, on
27 March 2023, the Company proposed rights issue on the basis of three rights
shares for every two adjusted shares in issue on the record date.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to our invaluable business partners, Shareholders, and management
and employees for their continuous support and contribution to the Group. We
look forward to sharing the rewards ahead with you.

Kuo Jen Hao
Chairman
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

XEMENEEE WD

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit ratio from 13.08% for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to 10.68% for the year ended 31 December 2022
due to the increase in material costs, global shortage of chips and integrated
circuits as a result of the Pandemic.

The Group's loss before finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation,
amortisation and release of prepaid lease payments was HK$23,070,000 (2021:
earnings of HK$30,554,000).

MEDIA ENTERTAINMENT PLATFORM RELATED
PRODUCTS

In 2022, the Group's media entertainment platform related products segment
faced a challenging economic environment and a decline in demand of its
products due to the continued impact of the Pandemic. The revenue of this
segment was decreased by 20.97% as compared with the year ended 31

December 2021, while the segment results were decreased by 124.59%.

—  Segment revenue of media entertainment platform related products was
approximately HK$92,890,000 (2021: HK$117,545,000).

—  Segment loss from operations were approximately HK$ 1,388,000 (2021:
profit of HK$5,645,000).

—  Segment loss margin was 1.49% as compared with segment margin of
4.80% in 2021.

Outlook
The Group is exploring new business opportunities for this segment. The
China-US trade war is not expected to have material adverse impact on this

segment as this segment does not have customers in the US.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XBHME

OTHER MULTIMEDIA PRODUCTS

Due to the increase in material costs and freight charges, the profitability of
the Group's other multimedia products segment was lower than expected.
Major products of this segment included cables, multimedia accessories and
wireless mobile phone chargers for vehicles. The revenue of this segment
was decreased by 50.97%. Segment results decreased by 67.91% due to the
increase in material costs after the outbreak of the Pandemic.

—  Segment revenue of other multimedia products was approximately
HK$133,311,000 (2021: HK$271,886,000).

—  Segment results from operations were approximately HK$4,910,000
(2021: HK$15,301,000).

—  Segment margin was 3.68% as compared with the segment margin of
5.63% in 2021.

Outlook

We are enhancing our product portfolio and developing new businesses to
cope with the new demand from customers. The China-US trade war has some
impact on this segment as some of the customers are located in the US. We are
trying to minimize the impact by sourcing from suppliers outside the PRC, such

as Southeast Asia and adjusting logistics structure.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EHGHMEBENREEE mEDNT &)

SATELLITE TV EQUIPMENT AND ANTENNA PRODUCTS

The segment margin of the Group's satellite TV equipment and antenna
products segment showed a decline notwithstanding the gradual recovery
of economy from the Pandemic in the North America. The revenue of this
segment was slightly decreased by 3.22% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2021, while the segment results were decreased by 26.72%.

—  Segment revenue of satellite TV equipment and antenna products was
approximately HK$519,753,000 (2021: HK$537,040,000).

—  Segment results from operations were approximately HK$53,023,000
(2021: HK$72,354,000).

—  Segment margin was 10.20% as compared with the segment margin of
13.47% for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Outlook

Low noise blocking down converters (“LNBs”) are receiving devices mounted
on satellite dishes used for reception, which collect microwaves from the
satellite dishes and facilitate the transmission of satellite television signals.
Apart from the sales of LNBs to the customers in North America, we are
exploring business opportunities in other areas such as cross-selling LNBs
to other existing customers of the Group in South Asia. The research and
development team of the Group endeavours to develop new products for next
generation radio and antenna communications. The China-US trade war has
some impact on this segment as most of the customers are located in the US.
Such impact is mitigated by sourcing from suppliers outside the PRC, such as
Southeast Asia.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XBERELERE WD (&)
GEOGRAPHICAL RESULTS b1 73 BB SR AR

ASIA

Revenue from Asia for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$172,297,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2021 which was approximately HK$116,297,000.

48.15% increase in revenue from Asia compared with the year ended 31
December 2021.

Revenue from Asia shares 23.10% of the Group's total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 12.55%).

EUROPE

Revenue from Europe for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$65,982,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2021 which was approximately HK$125,236,000.

47.31% decrease in revenue from Europe compared with the year ended
31 December 2021.

Revenue from Europe shares 8.85% of the Group's total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 13.52%).

MIDDLE EAST

Revenue from Middle East for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$11,289,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2021 which was approximately HK$16,234,000.

30.46% drop in revenue from Middle East compared with the year ended
31 December 2021.

Revenue from Middle East shares 1.51% of the Group's total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 1.75%).

)|
— REE-ZE-_—Ft+-_A=t+—HILFEEM
W28 49 5172,297,000/87C * MEBE T = —4
+—A=1+—HBHIFEHE116,297,000/ T °

— oMkFEHEE—_T-_—F+_A=+—HIt
FEHELL I IN48.15% ©

— REBE-ZE-_—F+-_A=Z+—HLFE
TN R B AU E523.10%( —F = —4F ¢
12.55%) ©

BOM

— REEZZ_—F+=-A=+—HLEFEBM
W25 495659820008 T * MBEZE_T=—F
TZA=1+—HILFEL 51252360008 T °

— EBMksESEE—_Z-_—F+-_A=+—Hit
FEAELRD4731% o

— REE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HBLEFEBNM
(A= B 4 258.85%( =B = —4F :13.52%) o

PR

— REEZZE--F+-A=1+—HLEFE+FR
W4 /811,2890008 7L MBE=_T=_—4F
TZA=T—HIEFEH 516,234,000/ 7T °

— hEWHFESEE T -_—F+-_A=t+—Hit
FEME T B30.46% °

— REEZZE-_—_F+-A=+—HLFEHHE
EAREBEBWZR151% (2T =—F : 1.75%) o

2020268/ BETERERAERAR 9



BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EHEHME N EIRE WD)

NORTH AMERICA

Revenue from North America for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately HK$447,901,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2021 which was approximately HK$626,389,000.

28.49% decrease in revenue from North America compared with the year

ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue from North America shares 60.04% of the Group's total revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 67.61%).

SOUTH AMERICA

Revenue from South America for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately HK$46,827,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2021 which was approximately HK$40,922,000.

14.43% growth in revenue from South America compared with the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue from South America shares 6.28% of the Group's total revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 4.42%).

Outlook
As our businesses in Asia and South America continued to perform well,

therefore we shall focus and explore new business opportunities on these

regions in future.

10

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report

16 =M

— REEZZE-—F+ZA=+—RHLEFEILE
MU ES#) B447,901,0008 L * MBE=T=—
FT+ZH=1T—HILFE 4 /626389,000%

JC ©

— dEMkFEFEE T - —F+-_A=+—H
1EFE LR 228.49% ©

— REE-_TE-_—_F+-_A=+—HIEFEI
EME R ERBIZE6004% ( ZF = — 5 :
67.61%) ©

AmEM

— REE-T-_—_F+-A=+—HILFEMXE
MU R %) 546,827,000 7L MEBE T ——
F+ZA=+—HIEFEL 540,922,000 T

— BEEMEEBEE_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—H
I FEMLER1443% ©

— REEZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE
BmEMIANERBUWZE628%( B = —4F
442%) ©

Al
AR F AP SR K SN B SRS 0 B RIS R AT Y
RE - AR MBRBREINZSHE



BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XBHME

DISPOSAL OF ALL INTERESTS IN MYHD AND
CONTINUATION OF LOANS AND GUARANTEE

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December
2018 (the “Announcement’) and the circular of the Company dated 25 May
2019 (the “Circular”). Unless otherwise stated, capitalised terms used herein
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Announcement and in
the Circular. On 31 December 2018, the Vendor and the Purchaser entered
into the Agreement pursuant to which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital of the Target Company, at the nominal consideration of US$1 with
effect from the Transaction Date. The Target Company was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and indirectly held 51% interests in MyHD. All the
Conditions set out in the Agreement had been satisfied and the Disposal was
completed on 25 June 2019.

The Vendor had agreed with the Purchaser under the Agreement to procure
that the Existing Loans shall continue to be advanced by the Company or SMT
(as the case may be) to the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be)
under the then existing arrangements notwithstanding the Completion taking
place. Such arrangement confers the right to the Company or SMT (as the
case may be) to receive the payments for the Existing Loans from the Target
Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be) when the financial positions of
the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be) improve and have
sufficient cash to settle the Existing Loans. As at 31 December 2022, there
were Existing Loans which have been past due in the aggregate amount of
US$108,802,000 comprising aggregate principal amount of US$71,298,000 and
aggregate accrued interest (calculated based on the terms of agreements of
Existing Loans) of US$37,504,000 owing by the Target Company and/or MyHD
to the Company and/or SMT (as the case may be), the particulars of which are

as follows:
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

2o Al B jaras & = =& AN =
FEMENEEE S wmE DT &)
Principal amount
outstanding as at Accrued interest
31 December as at 31 December
Lenders Debtors Prevailing interest rate Maturity date 2022 2022
R-B-Z% R-B-ZF
+ZA=t-H +ZA=t+-H
BRA EBA BiTHI% 28R HAEEREHE GRS
SMT Target Company 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$9,554,000 US$1,857,000
+ 100 basis pointse? (approximately HK$74,497,000)  (approximately HK$14,480,000)
RHRHR BRAA] ZEARABITRE “Z-%F 9,554,000 7T 1,857,000% 7T
B0 00fEE B ) +=A=1+-A (474,497,003 ) (414,480,000 7C)
SMT MyHD 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$10,500,000 US$1,780,000
+ 100 basis pointsee? (approximately HK$81,874,000)  (approximately HK$13,879,000)
TEHE MyHD =EARIRITAE “E-%F 10,500,000% 7 1,780,000 7T
BN 00fEE e t-A=t+-A (4981,874,0003 ) (413,879,000 7T)
SMT MyHD 10% per annum(ee? 31.12.2020 US$42,653,000 US$28,192,000
(approximately HK$332,587,000)  (approximately HK$219,827,000)
BHRE MyHD EF R0 W= —ECEE 42,653,000 7 28,192,000 T
+-A=t+-8 (#9332,587,000%7C) (#9219.827,000% 7T )
The Company MyHD 10% per annum*? 31122020 US$8,591,000 US$5,675,000
(approximately HK$66,988,000)  (approximately HK$44,251,000)
YN MyHD |21 0 (H2 ZTIEE 8,591,000 T 5,675,000 T
+=A=1+-A (4966,988,0007 ) (4944,251,000%7C)
Total US$71,298,000 US$37,504,000
(approximately HK$555,946,000)  (approximately HK$292,437,000)
@5t 71,298,003 70 37,504,000% 70
(#]555,946, 0007 7L.) (49292,437,000%7T)
Notes: Bz -
1. As a reference, 3 months London inter-bank offered rates (“LIBOR’) as applicable to these 1. EB2E R-_ZE—_—FRA—BE=E_Z-__%+=A

two loans during the period between 1 May 2012 to 31 December 2022 ranged between

0.11775% and 4.77857%.

2. Prevailing interest rate shall be increased to 11% per annum after maturity date.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XBHME

In December 2019, the Company was given to understand that the Target
Company and MyHD were in serious financial problem and ceased to operate
in late 2019. As such, the Company considered these loan receivables were
credit impaired and full impairment in the amount of HK$646,366,000 was
provided as at 31 December 2019. No interest income was recognised on
the outstanding loan principal for the year ended 31 December 2022 as the
recoverability of such interest receivables is remote.

The Vendor had also agreed that the Guarantee given by the Company to
MyHD shall continue for the time being after the Completion. The maximum
amount payable by the Company under the Guarantee would not exceed
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to HK$27,332,000). Notwithstanding that MyHD
ceased its operation in late 2019, the Company has not received any demand
for payment from MyHD under the Guarantee. At 31 December 2021 and 2022,
the Group had recognised the provision for financial guarantee in the amount
of US$3,500,000 (equivalent to HK$27,332,000) in relation to the Guarantee.

ACQUISITION OF PRABHU DIGITAL LIMITED BY DISH
MEDIA

Dish Media, the Company’s associate, to endeavour to expand broadband
services in Nepal, had issued 2,533,235 new shares to acquire all the interest
of Prabhu Digital Limited (the “Acquisition”), the Acquisition was completed
on 6 March 2022. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the equity interest
of the Company in Dish Media was diluted from approximately 47.12% to
approximately 41.86%. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the subscriber of the new
shares and its ultimate beneficial owners are independent of, and not acting
in concert with the Company and connected persons (as defined under the
Listing Rules) of the Company.

EIEE R ED I (®)

RZZBE-NE+T A ARFAAEZBERRA

MyHDEEﬁ}%%Eﬁ%Fﬁ% F BR=ZB-NFRER
B o At - KRR A EZ%F’EMZTME{ZT/

ﬁ WHZEERERR _E—NF+_A=1+—
Ha2Frr iR ERE - 5:557%46 366,000 7T © &
EZTFHZA=T—AHLEFE  AR%ZERE
WA B AT IR BB (R, - ML EFREBERAS
BERFEUA -

BEAHINEE - AR A4S FMYHDHERBR TR %
TRHE - AR RIRBERMEINNESSER
N8 483,500,000 7T (18 & 527,332,000 7T ) © %
EMyHDERZZT—NFFREEIEEE  BEARQ
RUEIMyHDAR IE FE R IR H O E RIS RE K - Eé_
S —FRZZT__F+-A=+—H TEEE
BLAZ & (R W SR B 7% FE (R $5 #83,500,000 % 7T (A & WA
27,332,0005 7)) °

DISH MEDIAUY §EPRABHU DIGITAL
LIMITED

KA FH B & A R]Dish Media BHHREEARE

7+ 8£472,533,235 % FT AR W BB Prabhu Digital Limited
i (TWEEE])  WESFEERN _7::
F=ZANRBTHK - RINBEEETKE - AQA

Dish Media B B #E B3 4947.129% 1% # 5 = #741.86% ©
BEEEEE—AEEREMA - FIRNFE

MRRBANHERRESER ABLNARF LA
NEIAEAL(EZR LR - HRIE—BITBA
4+
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XEMENEEE WD (#)

RIGHTS ISSUE OF DISH MEDIA

Dish Media, the Company’s associate, to endeavour to expand broadband
services in Nepal, to undergo a rights issue to issue 6,228,009 rights shares on
the basis of one rights share for every four shares for a subscription price 100
Nepalese Rupee (“NPR”) per share, to raise approximately NPR622,800,900 (the
“Dish Media Rights Issue”). The Dish Media Rights Issue was completed on
8 September 2022. Since the Company did not participate in the Dish Media
Rights Issue, the equity interest of the Company in Dish Media was diluted from
approximately 41.86% to approximately 33.19%. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
the subscriber of the new shares and its ultimate beneficial owners are
independent of, and not acting in concert with the Company and connected
persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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REVENUE

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$746.0
million, representing a decrease of 19.5% compared with approximately
HK$926.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease in

revenue was mainly due to the continued impact of the Pandemic.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$77.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, compared with loss of
approximately HK$25.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
loss is mainly attributable to (i) the increases in material costs, (i) the global
shortage of chips and integrated circuits as a result of the Pandemic, and
(iii) the share of loss of an associate.

LOSS PER SHARE

Calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of 492,161,490 ordinary shares (the “Shares”) (2021:
402,722,938 Shares) in issue. Basic loss per share was HK15.67 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2022, as compared with HK6.32 cents for the year ended
31 December 2021.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$28.2 million, compared to approximately HK$28.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HKS$12.7 million (2021: HK$9.8 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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TRADE RECEIVABLES FEW & 5 BR K
2022 2021
—E-= & — —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
Balance at 1 January A— A —HHB &S 167,113 122,505
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+8/4%E 135,945 167,113
Average balance sk 151,529 144,809
Revenue for the year ended 31 December* HETZ-A=+—HLFEMNKE 744,395 926,471
Average turnover days SSPEEEDN 74 57

Excluded sales to an associate

As at 31 December 2022, the trade receivables of the Group, net of allowance
of doubtful debts was approximately HK$135.9 million (2021: HK$167.1 million).

& TaERA—FHERAIHE

R-ZTB-_—F+_A=+—H AEENEKEZS
BRFNHOBR RER BB 14 49 5135,900,000/8 L (— T = —

The trade receivables turnover days was within the average credit period of 60 ¢ 1 167,100,000/87T) ° FEWE SR AR A E K S S
RETFAREBEFPHFHEEHORE120KAA o

days to 120 days to the customers of the Group.

TRADE PAYABLES EE SR
2022 2021
—E-= ——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 January — A — BB 232,153 208,095
Balance at 31 December B’\+ A=+—H®&& 188,071 232,153
Average balance E s 210,112 220,124
Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December BET-_A=1+—HILFEMHEERAN 666,262 805,276
Average turnover days A 8 K2R 115 100

=

As at 31 December 2022, the trade payables of the Group was approximately R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—H AEENENEH

HK$188.1 million (2021: HK$232.2 million). The increase in trade payables BR 3049 /4188,100,00038 7T ( — & = —4F : 232,200,000

turnover days was due to the tightening of settlement to the Group's suppliers /7&75) o EfTE ZRHEBEEREEEN - RN KE

to preserve more cash for better cash flow management. HAEEHEFNEENREBEZHSEREMNIR
EREER -
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NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Calculation of net asset value per share was based on the net asset value of the
Group of HK$12.9 million (2021: HK$95.1 million) and 492,161,490 Shares issued
at 31 December 2022 (2021: 492,161,490 Shares). Net asset value per share at 31
December 2022 was HK$0.03 (2021: HKS$0.19).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, an overall cash and cash equivalent of the Group
was HK$79.2 million (2021: HK$111.4 million). The Group managed its capital
structure and liquidity to finance its operations by using bank and other
borrowings and funds generated from operations.

The Group’s current ratio (ratio of current assets to current liabilities) was 0.74
at 31 December 2022 (2021: 0.99).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total borrowings were approximately
HKS$370.5 million (2021: HK$390.9 million), out of which HK$274.9 million (2021:
HKS$149.1 million) were due within one year and the rest of HK$95.6 million
(2021: HK$241.8 million) were due over one year. Approximately 63.9% of the
Group's bank and other borrowings were in US dollars and the rest of them
were in Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro and New Taiwan dollars. The effective interest
rates on the Group's variable interest rate bank and other borrowings ranged
from 0.84% to 10.53% per annum. The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total
assets of the Group) increased from 38.43% at 31 December 2021 to 42.73% at
31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, except the Equity Pledge and the Land Pledge
disclosed in the section headed “Cooperation Agreement in relation to
Proposed Redevelopment” below, the Group’s general banking facilities
included bank loans and other borrowings which were secured by the
following assets of the Group: (i) bank deposits of HK$8.3 million; (i) property,
plant and equipment with a carrying value of HK$14.7 million; (iii) investment
properties of HK$231.9 million; (iv) trade receivables of HK$100.3 million; (v)
inventories of HK$56.9 million; and (vi) pledge of the Company's interests in Pro
Brand Technology, Inc.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 669 (2021: 700) full-
time employees. Employees are remunerated according to their performance
and responsibilities. Employees of the Group receive training depending on
their scope of work, especially those training relating to workplace health and
safety.

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation
in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses relating to
the performance of the Group. The Company regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior

management.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Cooperation Agreement in relation
to Proposed Redevelopment” below, there were no significant investments
held as at 31 December 2022 nor were there other plans for material

investments on capital assets as at the date of this report.

*

For identification purpose only
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(i)

Cooperation Agreement in Relation to Proposed
Redevelopment

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 17
August 2021 (the “17 August Announcement”) in relation to the
cooperation agreement entered into between the Group and Huasuan
in July 2021 (the “Cooperation Agreement’), pursuant to which
Huasuan and Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd.* (“ZSS") (an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) will cooperate to
upgrade certain blocks of factory buildings and dormitories constructed
on an industrial land situated in Zhongshan, Guangdong Province, the
PRC (collectively, the “Land”) and owned by ZSS and to redevelop some
vacant and undeveloped parts of the Land (the “‘Redevelopment”)
subject to prior consents and planning approvals from the relevant PRC
government authorities.

Huasuan will fund the entire costs of the Redevelopment and the Group
will provide part of the Land that will be used for the Redevelopment.
The Group and Huasuan will be entitled to 20% and 80% respectively of
the new buildings constructed on the Land by apportioning the rental
income attributable to, or the proceeds from the disposal of, the newly
constructed buildings (the “Revenue Apportionment”). Under the
Cooperation Agreement, as conditions of the Redevelopment and to
ensure the continued commitment in the Redevelopment, Huasuan has
agreed to pay to the Group a cooperation fund amounting to RMB60
million as security deposit (the “Cooperation Fund”) and as securities
for such Cooperation Fund, the Group has agreed to pledge to Huasuan
(i) 100% of the shareholding interests in ZSS which holds the Land (the
"Equity Pledge”); and (ii) one of the three pieces of land parcels within
the Land (the “Land Pledge”). Huasuan shall release both the Equity
Pledge and the Land Pledge upon full repayment of the Cooperation
Fund by the Group and completion of the Redevelopment and Revenue
Apportionment. If the Redevelopment is unable to proceed, the
Cooperation Fund shall be refunded to Huasuan without interest within
10 business days failing which there is a default interest of 8% per annum
payable by the Group within three months.

* For identification purpose only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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20

The Redevelopment will not proceed if the Group cannot obtain
the relevant consents and planning approvals form the relevant PRC
government authorities. Further the Group may not proceed with
the Redevelopment even if the aforesaid conditions are fulfilled if the
outstanding matters such as the location and size of the Land to be
provided by the Group, the scale of Redevelopment to be undertaken
by Huasuan and whether the newly developed Land will be leased or to
be disposed of cannot be resolved or agreed by Huasuan and the Group.
If the aforesaid conditions are fulfilled and the outstanding matters
are resolved and agreed (including the prior consents and planning
approvals from the relevant PRC government authorities), the Group and
Huasuan will proceed with the Redevelopment by entering into a further
agreement. If the transactions under the further agreement constitute a
major transaction (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company,
the Company will comply with the requirements under Chapter 14 of the

Listing Rules.

Please refer to the 17 August Announcement for details of the

Cooperation Agreement and the proposed Redevelopment.

As at 31 December 2022, Huasuan had paid to the Group the
Cooperation Fund and the Group had recognised the same as deposit
received. The Group had provided the Equity Pledge and the Land
Pledge as securities in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement. The
Group has obtained some of the consents and planning approvals from
the relevant PRC government authorities.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's sales and purchases were denominated mainly in US$ and RMB.
The Group was exposed to certain foreign currency exchange risks but it
does not expect future currency fluctuations to cause material operation
difficulties on the ground that the recent pressure from appreciation of RMB
is manageable. However, management continuously assesses the foreign
exchange risks, with an aim to minimise the impact of foreign exchange

fluctuations on business operations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

ARBITRATION

On 29 September 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement (the
“Conditional Agreement’) with an independent individual third party (the
"Original Shareholder”) and Technosat Technology JLT FZE (“Technosat’,
a company incorporated in Dubai, which was wholly owned by the Original
Shareholder), to subscribe for 375 new shares in Technosat at a cash
consideration of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$58,170,000), amounting to
15% of Technosat's enlarged capital. Technosat is set up to be engaged in
operation of digital TV and radio platform, pay TV channel, and sales and supply
of TV set top boxes.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had paid a deposit of US$2,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$19,467,000) to Technosat to acquire new shares in Technosat which
was fully provided for impairment in the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
Pursuant to the terms of the Conditional Agreement, the Group is required to
pay a further sum of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The subscription is not yet completed up to the
date of approval of this report as the conditions precedent of the subscription
of new shares in Technosat including the consent and approval by government
authority in Dubai have not been fulfilled.
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Despite the Group's repeated request for information, there has been
no satisfactory response from the Original Shareholder or Technosat
("Counterparties”’) regarding the current status and the procurement of
obtaining government approval from the government authority in Dubai. The
Group has engaged legal counsel to act for the Group and started dispute
resolution proceedings against the Original Shareholder and Technosat.

On 21 January 2013, the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat served a notice to the Group’s legal counsel for a claim on the
further payment of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The Group's legal counsel has replied on behalf
of the Group on 11 February 2013 in response to the claim of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat defending the claim as the Directors consider such
claim invalid, as the conditions precedent of the subscription of new shares in
Technosat had not been fulfilled and constituted a breach of the Conditional

Agreement.

The Group's legal counsel had repeatedly requested the Original Shareholder
and Technosat to commence the next step of the mediation process, but
there has been no satisfactory response from the legal counsel of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat up to the deadline set by August 2014. In March
2021, as confirmed by the Group's legal counsel for this arbitration, no
communication has been received or sent by either party since August 2014.

As at the date of approval of this report, save as disclosed above, there was no
update on the arbitration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group continues to improve its corporate governance practices,
emphasizing the attainment and maintenance of a quality Board, sound risk
management and internal controls, and high transparency and accountability
to the Shareholders. The Board and the management are committed to
the principles of good corporate governance consistent with prudent
management and enhancement of shareholder value. The Board believes that
good corporate governance will bring long-term benefits to the Shareholders
and the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has applied the
principles and has complied with all the mandatory disclosure requirements
and the code provisions (“Code Provision(s)") of the section headed “Part 2 —
principles of good corporate governance, code provisions and recommended
best practices” of the Corporate Governance Code (“Corporate Governance
Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), except for the
deviations with the following reasons.

Under Code Provisions C.1.6 and F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code,
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors and

chairman of the board should attend general meetings, respectively.

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, a non-executive Director and chairman of the Board, and Mr.
Wu Chia Ming, an independent non-executive Director, were unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") held on 8 June 2022 due
to their other engagements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. After specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard regarding securities transactions set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Board consists of two executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin and Mr. Chen Wei Chun (chief financial officer), one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan, Ms. Chen Wei-Hui and
Mr. Wu Chia Ming. An updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions
is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively.

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer in the satellite
TV broadcasting business of the Group (“Satellite Broadcasting Services
Business Division”). Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors has
any financial, business, family or other material relationship with any of the
other Directors.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and calibre
for their views to carry weight. The functions of independent non-executive
Directors include:

bringing an independent view and judgment at Board meetings;
taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
serving on board committees if invited; and

scrutinizing the Company's performance and monitoring performance
reporting.

The independent non-executive Directors have made a positive contribution
to the development of the Company's strategies and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They benefit the Board
and the Board committees by their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and
qualifications through regular attendance and active participation at the
meetings of the Board and the Board committees.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the independent non-executive
Directors are identified, in all corporate communications to the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Confirmation of Independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and are independent.

Roles and Functions of the Board and the Management

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Company;
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board is fully responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies in relation to the business operation of the Group, including
dividend policy and risk management strategies. The management is
delegated the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group.

Appointment, Continuation of Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company while the non-executive Director and all independent non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company with
a specific term of three years, setting out key terms and conditions of their
appointments. All Directors are subject to retirement in accordance with the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws").

According to the Bye-Laws, (i) Directors appointed by the Board either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election; and (ii) at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years. As such, no
Directors have a term of appointment longer than three years.
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Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have made active
contribution to the affairs of the Group and 4 Board meetings were held to
discuss the matters relating to the right issue of Dish Media Network Ltd., To
consider promoting gender diversity of board members in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange, and to review and
approve the interim results and annual results of the Group.

In addition to the regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the year.

Further, on 13 December 2018, the Board has approved and adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The Company aims to deliver
reasonable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes
into account, inter alia:

(i) the Company'’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of
the members of the Group;

(i) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group's liquidity position;

(v)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;

(vi)  the Shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation;

(vii)  the industry’s norm; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

However, there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Attendance Record of Directors

The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the Board
committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended 31 December
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EEHERE
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HEEFEEH

2022 is set out below: fE1ER
Audit

Board Committee

Meetings Meetings

EZe88 ENZREER

Number of Number of

meetings meetings

attended/ attended/

Number of Number of

meetings held

meetings held

Nomination
Committee
Meeting
REZEEEE
Number of
meetings
attended/
Number of
meetings held

Remuneration
Committee
Meetings
FHESEeR
Number of
meetings
attended/
Number of
meetings held

EEREEeRRBRRAENHH

General
Meetings
EVN-1

Number of
meetings
attended/
Number of
meetings held

HESEN HESEN HEBEN HEGEN HEGEN
R/ BT R BT RE /BT RE /BT % Vg Ty
Name of Directors EEnE BENRE BENRE BENRE SENRE SENRE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin I L 4/4 N/A NEF N/A RN F N/A N 11
Mr. Chen Wei Chun BRESHLE 4/4 N/A N F N/A N F N/A N F 11
Non-Executive Director EHTES
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman) BAZEE(EE) 4/4 N/A NEFB N/A TNEF N/A TNEF 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. Ding Jing-Huei (Note 1) T &) 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan ERFLE 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Ms. Chen Wei-Hui (Note 2) BREE LT (ff3E2) 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. Wu Chia Ming REHRE 4/4 4/4 11 2/2 0/1
Notes: Bz -

1. Mr. Ding Jing-Huei resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the

Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 December 2022.

2. Ms. Chen Wei-Hui was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairperson
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 December 2022. During her tenure of office, no
meeting of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration

Committee or Shareholders were held.

1. TeBEdEa T F+ A+t =AREHIEB L IERN
TEE  ERZEBETIFEURRRZESNFMZESHK

8o

2. REELTE - Z-—F+-_A-_+t=AREREABY
HUTES  BERZEGEIRURRERZESNHFMES

BKE

HEZES

2022F#; /

cHHEEHATAEHESE  BFHREREE  RA
BYBERAE -

EETEEERARAT 27



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

/\AL]/_/\—/\— \A:}:
PHEERME (B

Access to Information

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that may
have affected the Group's business, including those changes to relevant rules
and regulations and are able to make further enquiries when necessary. The
Board has also agreed that the Directors may seek independent professional
advice in performing their directors’ duties at the Company’s expense.

Liability Insurance for Directors

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against the Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage
is reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company organized online training
courses for the Directors. Such training sessions covered the Update on Hong
Kong Listing Rules, Corporate Governance of a Hong Kong listed issuer and
Anti-corruption and Directors’ Ethics Talk. The Company also updated the
Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time.
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All Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code Provision on FIBESEHR  HECETHEBESREINTANE
directors’ training. The Company has received from each of the Directors his X o ARRIEWEIRESENETSEZEEIN
confirmation on taking continuous professional training. A summary of the BRE - EFRNHE_T_—_F+=-_A=+—81It
training for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows: FREAEINEREL M T ¢

Reading Materials/
Journals and/or
Attending in-house
training session

or seminars
SRER T
%/ BB MR
Name of Directors EEHR EIRERATE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin LR S A Vv
Mr. Chen Wei Chun BRIZSEE v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman) HSAREE(ERE) v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAKHITES
Mr. Ding Jin-Huei (Note 1) T aE (M) v
Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan [ERREF e Vv
Ms. Chen Wei-Hui (Note 2) PR 2 1 4 £ (B 5E2) vV
Mr. Wu Chia Ming RERLAE v

Notes:

1: Resigned on 23 December 2022

2: Appointed on 23 December 2022

1. R-B-—#+-A-+=H8F

2. R-B-—F+-A-+=HEEHE
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 states that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are separate to reinforce independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, the Chairman of the Board, is responsible
for the formulation of development strategies, investment decision making,
overall project planning at the Group level, leading the Board and ensuring
that the Board functions properly and effectively, whilst Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin, the chief executive officer of several subsidiaries of the Company which
are engaged in manufacturing and trading of the media entertainment
platform related products, other multimedia products, integration of signal
and traffic communication and satellite TV equipment and antenna products
("Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products Business Division”)
is responsible for the management of the daily operation and general
administration of the Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products
Business Division.

Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting
Services Business Division, is responsible for the overall management of the
Group including all overseas offices.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the Audit Committee; (ii) the Remuneration
Committee; and (ii) the Nomination Committee, with specific written terms
of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The latest
versions of the terms of reference of the Board committees are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice and

other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Audit Committee

Composition

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference. The written
terms of reference of the Audit Committee was further updated on 30
March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the Audit Committee are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, Mr. Lu
Ming-Shiuan and Mr. Wu Chia Ming. Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, who has appropriate
professional accounting qualifications as required under the Listing Rules, was
appointed as the chairperson of the Audit Committee. None of the members of
the Audit Committee is a former partner of the auditor of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
(i) being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (iii) developing and implementing a policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services; (iv) monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements and the annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, before
submission of the financial statements and reports to the Board, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them; (v) reviewing the
Company’s financial control, risk management and internal control systems;
and (vi) discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to establish
effective systems.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings
to consider, approve and adopt the risk management policy, and review annual
audit planning, annual results, interim audit planning, interim results and the
internal control review conducted by an external professional consultant and
discuss the matters relating to the legal proceeding involving a subsidiary in
India.

The attendance record of each Audit Committee member for the year has been
set out on page 27 of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference. The written
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was further updated on 30
March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan
(chairman), Ms. Chen Wei-Hui and Mr. Wu Chia Ming.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other
things, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
(i) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
attendance of individual Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting is set

out on page 27 of the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy on 31 March 2020 which sets out the
criteria and process on the nomination and appointment of directors.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board,
the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination policy and consider
factors including:

(@)  personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b)  professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s businesses and corporate development and
strategy;

() commitment in respect of sufficient time for the proper discharge
of the duties of a director, including devoting adequate time for the
preparation and participation in meetings, training and other Board or
Company associated activities;

(d) independent non-executive director candidates must satisfy the
independence requirements under the Listing Rules. The independent
non-executive director candidate shall be independent in character and
judgement and be able to represent and act in the best interests of the
Shareholders; and

(e)  any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee should make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the general

meeting.

The attendance record of each Nomination Committee member for the year

has been set out on page 27 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

Composition

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of
reference. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was
further updated on 30 March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wu Chia Ming (chairman), Ms. Chen Wei-Hui and Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other
things, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee held
2 meetings to review the existing remuneration packages of Directors
and the key terms and conditions of the service agreements and letters of
appointment. The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members has
been set out on page 27 of this annual report.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

FMESS

i1
ApRFHEEE((FMEEF )N _ZTHEF=
A+EHARY - BAEEATANBELE - HFMEZ
EENEHRREEEN T ——F=A=+RAN=
T \FRA-BE-—TEH - FMEESNME
B RBILIFNITES  BIREALE(ER)
REEZ LT REMRAS KL -

FHZEENEZRE (AT EE)  ORARAY
AEEEERSREEENZBHIBRLER -
MEFSRLES  (WREEFSMIIEETHE
BiEmias RELEEBNHINES  RNAES
SEABENEEREREEBNFMTE

REEZE-__FF+A=+—HILEFEA ' HH
ZEERAATMASHRARNESNRETHGEE
ERBHERETENEZHERRENS - HFNEE
eXEMNEFEREHNAFREE -

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHLFE aKkeE"E
EBRE(CTERER)NEMEEMT -

Number of individuals

Remuneration band HENEE A
HK$0-HK$ 1,000,000 0Z1,000,00078 7T 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T 2 1,500,000/ 75 5
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ JT £ 2,000,000/ 7T 3

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance
functions set out below:

(@) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

(b)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of ethic and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has approved and adopted the following new or

updated policies:

(i) Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery;

(i) Statement of Purpose, Values and Strategy; and

(i) Board Independence Policy.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The board diversity policy was adopted by the Board on 1 June 2018 aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance
the quality of its performance. Selection of candidates on the Board is based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Nomination Committee will assess the merit and contribution
that any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director against the objective and appropriate criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the changes to the Corporate
Governance Code which came into effect on 1 January 2022, including the
requirement for listed issuers with a single gender board to appoint a director
of a different gender before the end of the 3-year transition period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Chen Wei-Hui was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director.

Following the appointment of Ms. Chen Wei-Hui taking effect, the Board has

achieved gender diversity and thus fulfils the requirement under Rule 13.92 of
the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

GENDER DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE LEVELS

Our approach for talent recruitment and retention is to employ a diverse
team that works together collaboratively and encourage differences and
individuality in employees with respect to equal opportunities, diversity
and anti-discrimination. The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) for the year ended 31 December 2022 is Male:Female = 5.5:4.5.
The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue
to maintain the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender
ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE POLICY

During the year, the Company has adopted the policy on obtaining
independent views and input. In accordance with this policy, the Board, Board
committees or individual Directors may seek such independent professional
advice, views and input as considered necessary to fulfil their responsibilities
and in exercising independent judgement when making decisions in
furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense (the
“Mechanism”). The Mechanism is established to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board and should be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report of the Company.

Independent professional advice shall include legal advice and advice of
accountants and other professional advisors on matters of law, accounting, tax
and other regulatory matters.

In the event that independent professional advice, views and input are
considered necessary, the Board, Board committees or individual Directors shall
communicate with the company secretary or a dedicated person to start the
Mechanism, providing background and details of the relevant incidents and/
or transactions, and the issues involved which would require independent
views and input. They may direct any questions, queries, concerns or specific
advice to be sought to the company secretary or the dedicated person who
will then contact the Company'’s professional advisers (including, but not
limited to, legal advisors, accountants, independent auditor, internal control
advisor) or other independent professional parties to obtain such independent
professional advice within a reasonable period of time.
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Any advice obtained through the Mechanism shall be duly documented and
made available to other members of the Board.

Despite having obtained any information or advice from the Chairperson/
Chairman and/or any independent professional advisors through the
Mechanism, the Directors are expected to exercise independent judgement in
forming their decisions.

Also, the senior management of the Company are, from time to time, brought
into formal and informal contact at Board meetings and other corporate
events. The Board has full access to all information provided by the senior
management of the Company it deems appropriate for the purposes of
fulfilling its role.

The Company has reviewed and considered the implementation of the
Mechanism to be effective during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board has appointed Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (“Ms. Tung") as the
company secretary of the Company with effect from 30 November 2019. Ms.
Tung has been nominated by Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited
("Boardroom”) under an engagement letter made between the Company and
Boardroom. The primary person at the Company with whom Ms. Tung has
been contacting is Mr. Young Ho Kee Bernard, the project manager, in relation
to corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Tung has confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board endeavours to present to the Shareholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by the
management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable.

Save as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, the adoption of relevant
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards that became
effective during the year has no significant impact on the Group's results of
operation and financial position.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND ITS REMUNERATION

The external auditor performs independent audit of the annual consolidated
financial statements prepared by the management. BDO Limited ("BDO") has

been engaged as the Company’s external auditor.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees charged to the financial
statements of the Group in respect of BDO's statutory audit and other services
amounted to approximately HK$2,050,000 and HK$320,000 respectively. The
fees of recurring audit services of subsidiaries performed by other auditors and

the fees of provision of other services were approximately HK$2,694,000.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control and risk management which is designed and
operated to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s business
objectives in the following areas are achieved:

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations, including the achievement of
performance and operating targets and the safeqguarding of assets by

the management;
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Reliability of financial and operating information provided by the
management, including management accounts and statutory financial
reports; and

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations by each business unit.

The Company has put and continues to place considerable emphasis on

maintaining and enhancing the effectiveness of its system of internal control.

Under the Company’s internal control framework, risk management and

internal control and those relating to environmental, social and governance

risk, performance and reporting are primarily the collective responsibility

of every manager and employee. For consistent compliance by every

person in the Company, the following key control policies and measures are

implemented in the everyday activities, which are summarized below:

1.

40

Overall control environment, including code of ethics governing staff
conduct within the Group, and whistle blowing policy;

Management of financial and non-financial risks, including at the
company level the risk management functions of the Board; at the
business unit level management’s ongoing monitoring of operational
and other risks;

Major controls systems and processes, including budgetary and cost
controls, financial reporting systems and processes for timely and quality
management reporting, and corporate policies and procedures for

approvals, reviews and segregation of duties in everyday activities;

In relation to ongoing compliance monitoring and internal control
reviews, the company secretary undertakes to monitor overall of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The external professional consultant
directly reports to the Audit Committee and is engaged to conduct
independent reviews on the internal control system and provides
recommendations on risk management of the Group; and

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

5. The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management. It has also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
accounting and financial reporting functions.

In conducting these reviews, the following reports and activities are
considered:

self-assessments made by management of various business units
and subsidiaries of their material controls and risk management
activities undertaken with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") enterprise risk
management framework; and

self-assessments made by business units and Group finance of the
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and
financial reporting functions. The main conclusions are that:

the resources in the accounting and finance functions are
adequate; and

the qualifications and experience of the staff of the accounting

and finance functions are satisfactory overall.

During the year, the external professional consultant has reviewed the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group, which include financial,

operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

An internal control and risk management system, no matter how well designed
and operated, is to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives. The design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur
or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
In addition, the design of any system of controls is based in part on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events.

Inside Information Policy

An inside information policy is in place which contains guidelines to the
Directors and officers of the Group to ensure that inside information of the
Group can be promptly identified, assessed and disseminated to the public
in consistent and timely manner in accordance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Company must disclose inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable, unless the “safe harbours” provisions under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ") apply. The Board shall take
reasonable precautions in preserving the confidentiality of inside information
and the relevant announcement before publication.

The Board and the management will continue to look into opportunities for
further enhancing the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
in the years ahead.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group regards internal audit as an important part of the Board and Audit
Committee’s oversight function. The principal objective of internal audit,
which is set out in an internal audit charter, is to provide the Board and
management with useful information and recommendations on the adequacy

and effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUTHORITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Under the internal audit charter endorsed by the Audit Committee, the internal
audit function is authorized by the Board to have access to all records, people
and physical properties relevant to the performance of internal audit. The
external professional consultant has unrestricted access to the chairman of the
Audit Committee and reports directly to the Audit Committee for direction and
accountability. This reporting relationship enables the external professional
consultant to provide an objective assurance to the effectiveness of the

internal control system of the Group.

DUTIES

The duties of the external professional consultant are described in the
engagement letter entered into between the Company and the external
professional consultant. It mainly requires that (a) internal audits are conducted
with independence, objectivity and due professional care in compliance
with the relevant standards, guidelines, and the code of ethics; (b) systems
established are evaluated to ensure compliance with those policies, plans,
procedures, law and regulations which could have a significant impact on
the Group; (c) the approved internal audit plan is implemented, including
any other special tasks or projects requested by the Audit Committee; and
(d) the Audit Committee is updated with key audit initiatives and progress of
completion of the approved internal audit plan, including any change.

All above described duties may be adjusted depending on the resources
available for internal audit function. The management of the Group has the
responsibility to keep reviewing the resources’ availability for internal audit
function.
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INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES AND MAJOR WORK
DONE IN 2022

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to review and
assess the risk management and internal control system of the Group. During
the year under review, the external professional consultant has assessed
(i) fixed assets management cycle; (ii) capital, investment and financial
management cycle; (iii) financial reporting and disclosure cycle; and (iv)
tax management cycle of major operating subsidiaries of the Group. The
external professional consultant submitted a review report with the relevant
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board for implementation.
The Group and the Audit Committee will keep reviewing the resources’
availability for the implementation of internal control function and risk
management and will regulate the activities for both.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of our accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting staff, and their training programs and budget, are
reasonably implemented and the Group has complied with provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding risk management and internal control
systems in general for the year ended 31 December 2022.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks when conducting its business
operations globally. The Board assists the Group in anticipating its risk
exposure, putting controls in place to counter threats, and pursuing its set
objectives. After the Board has identified the top risks of the Group, the
Directors will assess how much risk the Board is faced with through the Group's

operation and governance processes.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Based on the risk profile of each business unit, and taking into account the
management control and corporate oversight at Group level, the Audit
Committee and the external professional consultant would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year. The Company has separated its risks into
two levels:

(1) Enterprise risk level which is mainly externally driven and will be
mitigated by solution comes from management discussion; and

(2)  Operating risk level which is mainly internally driven and will be
mitigated by building up risk control matrixes for tests of controls and
remediation of deficiencies identified.

The following are the current top and emerging risks of the Group.

Commercial Risk

Commercial risk refers to potential losses arising from inadequate gross
margins and/or non-performance of trading partners or counterparties in the
regions that the Group is operating. It is important to ensure that our trading
partners or counterparties are reliable, financially healthy and willing to comply

with sound commercial practice.

Currently, the key commercial risks facing by the Group are international
economic conflicts. During the year, the PRC and the US are still engaged in
a trade war that each country continues to dispute tariffs placed on goods
traded between them. As some of the major customers of the Group are
located in the US and the major production facilities of the Group are located
in the PRC, the China-United States trade war has some impact on the Group's
business and operations. In order to mitigate the impact from the China-
United States trade war and to avoid the tariffs imposed by the US on products
originating from the PRC, the Group has managed these commercial risks by:

(@)  strengthening its supply chain management, such as encouraging our
suppliers to establish new production facilities in Vietnam to cope with

the production orders of parts and accessories of our products;
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(b)  relocating certain manufacturing workflows to India by establishing local
production facilities to diversify the production facilities of the Group;
and

(c)  working closely with the customers in the US to streamline the process
of products delivery and customs clearance.

Financial Risk

Currency risk

For bank borrowings, the functional currency of each operating entity is
generally matched with its liabilities. As such, the management does not
expect any significant foreign currency risk associated with the Group’s

borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages and maintains a level of operating cash flows deemed to
be adequate by the management to finance the Group's daily operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Environmental Risk

The Group may expose to potential liabilities to third parties due to pollution
and non-compliance with environmental regulations and requirements.
At present, the Group has outsourced most of its manufacturing process
to suppliers and only maintained an assembly line in Zhongshan, the PRC.
The exposure to environmental risks is mitigated by development of close
relationships with suppliers to ensure that all the materials used in productions
are met with environmental standards required by customers.

Compliance Risk

The Group has adopted internal procedures to monitor the Group’s
compliance risk to ensure that the Group is complied with the laws and
regulations where applicable. Besides, the Group engages an external
professional consultant to review the Group's corporate governance and legal
advisers to update the Group about the latest development in the regulatory
environment.

The Board has overseen the Company'’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review of the effectiveness of the
Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems
has been conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective
and adequate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company actively fulfills its social responsibilities by protecting the
environment, making good use of and cherishing resources, adopting more
environmentally-friendly designs and technologies and improving the
environmental awareness of its employees, partners and customers, so as to
minimize the impacts of the business of the Company on the environment. For
details, please refer to the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company, which will be published on the website of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.sandmartin.com.hk).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group's position and prospects in annual
reports, interim reports and other financial disclosures as required by the
Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 70 to 78 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy on 1 June
2018 and the Board shall review on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following
ways: (i) the holding of AGM and special general meeting (“SGM"), if any, which
may be convened for specific purposes which provide opportunities for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (ii) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required
under the Listing Rules; and (iii) the availability of latest information of the
Group on the Company's website.

General Meetings with Shareholders

Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company's website and
communicate with the Company by mail, telephone, fax and email, details of
which are made available on the Company’s website.
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the general meetings for such
substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring Directors. The
Company’s notice to Shareholders for the 2022 AGM was sent to the
Shareholders at least 21 clear days before the meeting and notices of all other
general meetings were sent to the Shareholders at least 14 clear days before
the meetings.

On behalf of Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, chairman of the Board, who was unable to
attend the 2022 AGM, Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, an executive Director, and the
external auditor were available at the 2022 AGM to answer questions from
the Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (“Branch
Share Registrar”), the representative of the Branch Share Registrar had
explained the procedures for conducting a poll during the 2022 AGM. The poll
results is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively on the same day as the poll.

During the year, one general meeting was held. The 2022 AGM was held on
8 June 2022 and the voting was conducted by way of poll. The attendance
records of the Directors are set out on page 27.

Information Disclosure on Corporate Website

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information about the
Group to all interested parties as widely and as timely as possible. The
Company maintains a corporate website at http://www.sandmartin.com.hk
where important information about the Company’s activities and corporate
matters such as annual reports and interim reports to the Shareholders
and announcements is available for review by the Shareholders and other
stakeholders.

When announcements are made through the Stock Exchange, the same
information will be made available on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Company issued various announcements in respect of

financial and inside information, which can be viewed on the website of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Investor Relations

The Company recognises its responsibility to explain its activities to those with
a legitimate interest and to respond to their questions. In addition, questions
received from the general public and individual Shareholders are answered
promptly. In all cases, great care is taken to ensure that no inside information is

disclosed selectively.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy during the year and concluded that it is
effective because majority of the Directors attended the AGM held on 8 June
2022 either by person or by means of electronic facilities to communicate with
the shareholders of the Company. In addition, all corporate communications
and regulatory announcements were published by the Company on its website
and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code:

Convening an SGM and putting forward proposals at such meetings.

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Bye-Laws,
Shareholder(s) as at the date of deposit of the requisition holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an SGM to be called by the Board. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the meeting, and (ii) must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11 Bermuda (the “Registered
Office”) or head office in Hong Kong at Unit 516, 5th Floor, Peninsula Centre,
67 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the
Board or the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Branch Share
Registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order,
the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been
verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an SGM will not be convened as requested.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of a valid
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitions or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may
themselves convene an SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of 3 months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. In
addition, such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Board.

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of
Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates, or not less than 100
Shareholders, can at the expense of the requisitionists request the Company in
writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition
signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at the Registered Office of
the Company for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses and not less
than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available for viewing on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholding to the
Branch Share Registrar. Other enquiries from Shareholders may be put forward
to the Board through the Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to
the Board for handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited
Unit 516, 5th Floor, Peninsula Centre,

67 Mody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Email: ir@sandmartin.com.hk
Tel No: +852 2587 7798
Fax No: +852 2587 7728

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The Company proposes to amend the Bye-Laws in order to comply with the
Listing Rules and Corporate Governance Code that came into effect on 1
January 2022, details of which will be published in due course.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREERBCERE

DIRECTORS
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, aged 46
Chairman of the Board, Non-Executive Director

was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 August 2017 and the
chairman of the Board on 24 August 2021. He graduated with a bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from Aletheia University in Taiwan and holds
a master’s degree of business administration from Pace University in 2003 in
the United States. Mr. Kuo is a certified public accountant of the New Jersey
State Board of Accountancy.

He has several years of work experience in investment advisory, financial
advisory and corporate finance at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and Private Equity Management Group and held various key roles
at several private and listed companies engaging in (i) the administrative and
corporate business; (ii) corporate finance; and (iii) general management in
real estate development business, shipping business, retailing business and
logistics business. Mr. Kuo has a wealth of experience in business strategy
development and innovation management.

He is the chairman and the general manager of First Steamship Company
Limited (“First Steamship”) (a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“TWSE") (TWSE Stock Code: 2601) and is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and through its subsidiaries collectively holds 28.98% of
the issued share capital of the Company). Mr. Kuo is also a director and the
chairman of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited (a company listed on the TWSE
(TWSE Stock Code: 5907) and is a subsidiary of First Steamship) and Taiwan
Environment Scientific Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Taipei Exchange)
(Taipei Exchange Stock Code: 8476). He is currently a non-executive director
and the chairman of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1073). He
is also a director of several subsidiaries of the First Steamship including but
not limited to Mariner Finance Limited, Morton Securities Limited and First
Steamship S.A. He has served as a non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102) from 28
December 2017 to 26 April 2019. Mr. Kuo was a director of IRC Properties, Inc. (a
company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) from July 2017 to May 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEREREEECERE®#®)

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, aged 61
Executive Director, Authorised Representative

is the founder of the Group, which was founded in November 1989. He was
the Chairman of the Board until 18 August 2017. Mr. Hung acts as an executive
Director and authorised representative of the Company. He is currently
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive
officer of several subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in the

Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products Business Division.

Mr. Hung has over 33 years of management experience in the electronics
manufacturing industry. He graduated from the National Chengchi University
in Taiwan, with a bachelor's degree in business administration. Mr. Hung also
completed the executives programme from the Graduate School of Business
Administration, National Chengchi University.

He is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the director of several subsidiaries
of the Company and the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting
Services Business Division.

Mr. Chen Wei Chun, aged 46
Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer

joined the Group in May 2015 and was appointed as an executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28 August 2015 and 30
November 2017 respectively. He is also the director and the chief financial
officer of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Chen graduated from National Chengchi University and Shih
Chien University with a master's degree in finance and a master’s degree in
business administration respectively. He is well experienced in accounting
and finance industries. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the head of
finance department of TTY Biopharm Company Limited and head of finance
department of KH.S. Musical Instrument Company Limited.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EELREREEBCERE#E)

Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, aged 45
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairperson of Audit Committee, Member of

each of Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 23 December 2022. She is
currently the chairperson of Audit Committee, member of each of Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. She was conferred the Master’s
degree of Accounting from National Chengchi University in 2002 and
Bachelor’s degree of Accounting from Fu Jen Catholic University in 1999, both
in Taiwan. Ms. Chen is a certified public accountant of the Republic of China, a
Certified Internal Auditor of The Institute of Internal Auditors-Chinese Taiwan
and a Land Administration Agent of the Republic of China. Ms. Chen is a Land
Administration Agent of Canaan Land Registration Office since 2022 and was
an Assistant Vice President of Taipei Exchange from 2005 to 2022 and Audit
Assistant Manager of Deloitte and Touche of Taiwan from 2002 to 2005.

Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan, aged 51
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,

Member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 24 August 2021. He is currently
the chairman of Nomination Committee, member of each of Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee. He was conferred the degree of Master of
Law in Science and Technology from the Institute of Law of Science and
Technology, College of Technology Management at the National Tsing Hua
University in 2010, in Taiwan. Mr. Lu has been appointed as a member of the
Taipei Bar Association since 2013. Mr. Lu is a senior partner of Heng-Sheng
Attorney-at-Law since April 2016 and was a prosecutor of Taiwan Pingtung
District Prosecutors Offices and Taiwan Miaoli District Prosecutors Offices.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EENEREEEBLERE &)

Mr. Wu Chia Ming, aged 54
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Remuneration Committee,

Member of each of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 1 December 2014. He is
currently the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wu has a
master’s degree in business administration from the Institute of International
Business, National Chen- kung University and a bachelor’s degree in electronic
engineering from Chung Yuan Christian University in Taiwan. He has nearly 28
years of experience in financial analysis and fund management. Currently, Mr.
Wu is the chairman of Fortune-Future Investment Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was
a fund manager of KGI Securities Investment Trust Co., Ltd.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Chen Mei Huei, aged 60
Director of several subsidiaries of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of

Satellite Broadcasting Services Business Division

is a co-founder of the Group since 1989. She is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer of Satellite
Broadcasting Services Business Division. Ms. Chen is responsible for the overall
management of the Group including all overseas offices. She has been actively
engaged in the sales and marketing development of the Group in Taiwan
and the international markets for more than 33 years and has particular focus
on new customers and new market development in recent years. Ms. Chen
graduated from Tamkang University in Taiwan with a dual bachelor’s degree in
Spanish Literature and International Trade. She is the wife of Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin, an executive Director and authorised representative of the Company.
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EELREREEBCERE#E)

Mr. Frank Karl-Heinz Fischer, aged 63
Director of several subsidiaries of the Company, Vice President of the Group,
Chief Technology Officer of the Group

joined the Group in January 2008 and is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company, and the vice president and chief technology
officer of the Group. He is responsible for the global marketing strategy
and technical support of the Group. Mr. Fischer has more than 33 years of
experience in hardware and software development for consumer electronic
products in Europe and has been involved in Digital TV technologies since the
beginning of Digital Video Broadcasting (“DVB") Project in 1994. He graduated
as diploma degree engineer for automation technology and cybernetics from
the Technical University Leipzig in Germany.

Mr. Hsiao Yu Jung, aged 57
Deputy General Manager of the Group's Digital Video Broadcasing ("DVB’) division

joined the Group in July 2002 and is currently the deputy general manager of
the Group’s DVB division. He is responsible for procurement, manufacturing
and development of the Group's DVB products and supervision of the
Company’s associate company in Nepal. Mr. Hsiao obtained a diploma in
mechanical design engineering from the National Formosa University in
Taiwan.

Mr. Su Jow Shi, aged 59
General Manager of the Group's digital TV division

joined the Group in September 1995 and is currently the general manager
of the Group's digital TV division. He is responsible for the Group’s digital TV
operations in South Asia region. Mr. Su graduated from the San Diego State
University where he earned a Master of Public Administration degree.

Ms. Su Wan Ling (also known as Ms. Julia Swen), aged 57
Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has been working in our Group since 2007 and is currently a director of Pro
Brand Technology, Inc. She is responsible for promoting cable products,
satellite and digital television products in the market of the United States.
Ms. Su graduated from the University of California, with a bachelor’s degree
in Biochemistry; a master's degree in Environmental Science and a master’s
degree of Business Administration. She has over 28 years of experience in
research of biotechnology field and business management.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EELERE

Mr. Sven Willig, aged 49
General Manager of Intelligent Digital Services GmbH (“IDS")

has joined the Group since 2005 and is currently the general manager of IDS.
He is responsible for business and project development of IDS. Mr. Sven has
over 23 years of management experience in the development and quality

control of digital television technologies.

Mr. Huang Jung-Sen, aged 53
Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has joined Pro Brand Technology, Inc,, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group since 2017 as a director and chief technology officer, Asia Region and
deputy general manager of Pro Brand Technology, Inc. and was promoted
to general manager of Asia Region on 1 February 2021. He is responsible for
the entire proactive product development and sales of LNBs in Asia Region of
Pro Brand Technology, Inc., as well as product development and sales of the
new product line, i.e. home network. Mr. Huang graduated from the Yuan Ze
University in Taiwan with a master's degree in electrical and communication
engineering. He has 27 years of experience in overall technology development,
management and sales of high frequency and microwave-related fields and
related businesses.

Mr. Tsai Li Che, aged 44
General Manager of China Region, Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd.*

joined the Group in December 2001 and is currently the general manager of
China Region of Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd. He is responsible
for the operation of multimedia business in China region. Mr. Tsai graduated
from Murdoch University with a bachelor degree of information technology. He
has 22 years of experience in technology development and management and
the relevant sales business in the field of international trade of multimedia.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERRE

The Board has the pleasure of presenting the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the year ended 31
December 2022 by principal activities is set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 79 to 80 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set

out as below:

Section(s) in the annual report

REHFEH

EEEMAREAKREBE_T_—_F+ -5
=+ RUEFENFREEEFZREMBRE

EFEXRHK
AR A—RREERAT  HEBHBARME
BEBRNAEBRARBRAM A -

AEEHE T -_—F+_A=1+—HLEFEEXE
TEBHU G RS S EE D TEH R A EBLRE B SR
REIEET o

45

AEBEBEE T —F+-A=+—HIFENE
BENAERFIOBEFOEMNGABEREME
AL °

£ 0]
AEEBE-F-—F+-A=t-ALFENE
BEERIIMT :

Page no. of the
annual report

REH2H

a. Fair review of the Company’s business

ARBEBHEERE

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

BN ERENWEIT

b. Description of the principal risks and Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders 4105
uncertainties the Company is facing FREBRR RS FL4BEFESH

AR R EMYEAEZRBETEE  Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

ERE= EBHMEREEENREST FEEE4R
C. Particulars of important events affecting Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

the Company that have occurred since the HEISBEE & E 2 Efl i E DT FOEZEF148

year ended 31 December 2022 Financial Review 1510 22

BEE-_ZT_—_F+-_HA=1+—H Byp el FISEEFE2NE

LEEERENFERARFNERS
R
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

= SRS (E

Section(s) in the annual report

REH2EH

Page no. of the
annual report

RERZHE

)

Indication of likely future development of
the Company'’s business

AR BEBARKAEE RO R

Analysis using financial key performance
indicators

R EERBRRODM

Discussion on the Company's
environmental policies and performance

BRAARRAREERR LRI

An account of the Company’s key
relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company and on
which the Company’s success depend
AAFEEES - TP REEEAR
HARRBERZERARRKY
PRAKREH) B Ath A BV B R AR

Discussion on the Company's compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company
RARETEHARRBERNTZENE
AR R E IR A R

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis

EHHMBENMERENWEIT

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis
EHME R EE B wmES T

Financial Review

B 75 1m0 B

Financial Summary

s E

Corporate Governance Report
TEERERRE

Further information about the Company'’s

environmental policies and performance will be described in

the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2022"
(a standalone report)

BEARRRRERR LKA E —TERE
RIZTE-—FRE  HERELHRSE]
(=B B|E ) HEE

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis
EBMERER B mES T
Report of the Directors

BEEeWmE

Corporate Governance Report
REERRE
Report of the Directors

Exems

6t0 14
FOBZEF14H
15 to 22
FISEEFENH
212

F2128

23to 51
FBEEFESH
Not applicable

ES8HEEHE69H
23to 51
FB3EEFS1H
5810 69
FE58HEEFE69H
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEDTWE (F

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders, provided
that the Group records a profit after tax and that the declaration and
distribution of dividends does not affect the future growth of the Group.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and may adopt changes
as appropriate at the relevant time to ensure the effectiveness of the Dividend

Policy.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity linked agreements were entered into during or subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 December 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company, any
of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not have any distributable reserve
(2021: Nil).

Details of the movements in reserves during the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in page 83 and page 84 to the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium

accounts.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any donation for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEDTWE (F

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-Laws provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses and damages which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise

in relation thereto.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance

throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended 31
December 2022 for the benefit of the Directors.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group is set out on page 211 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group's five largest customers amounted to approximately 65.1% of the
Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer

were approximately 32.5% of the Group's total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 58.2% of the total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 26.9% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (who to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the
Company) had any interests in the five largest customers and suppliers of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

62 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report

BEFRYREEX
BEEA  SREFHARRAAFEERHER
PITMBE R TREAB L EE TR
BBz —EAREML

AEERFAEBEMBESTRERR  REAK
BERRPEENORRE

BEERZHZ  BEFNBEEXREE -2
T+ A=t+—HIEFEEK -

MBHE
AEEHHHERNAFERE2H -

FEEFRHER

REBEZE-__F+ZA=+—HIEFE  *5H
MAAEFPHBHERE AN EEREETELN651% -
mAKAZFHHERERNEERIHETEL32.5% °

Al

REBEEZTE-_ZF+-_A=+—HLEFE 4%
BrRAAHESNBRBEELASEARBEEY
5820 MR A FERE M RIEREIG AR BB KE
BH#926.9% ©

REBE_ZT-__F+-_A=1T—"BLFE E=-
RENREBMBEASTMBR(LESAARE AR
AR EITRNSYA L) BEREARBERATRP R
HER AR -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2022.

LITIGATION

The details of the Group's litigations proceedings are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin
Mr. Chen Wei Chun

Non-executive Director

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Chia Ming

Ms. Chen Wei-Hui (appointed on 23 December 2022)
Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan

Mr. Ding Jin-Huei (resigned on 23 December 2022)

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Chen Wei-Hui shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and, being eligible,
offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM (2023 AGM").

In accordance with Bye-Laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Chen Wei
Chun and Mr. Kuo Jen Hao shall retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

No retiring Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEDTWE (F

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there was no change to
information required to be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs
(a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) since the Company'’s interim report 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, together
with those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and Corporate Governance Report on page 30

respectively.

The emolument payable to the Directors (including salary and other benefits)
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company for the
Board's approval, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a Director or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of significant related party transactions made during the year
ended 31 December 2022 is disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

The related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each Director
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in
the register pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(@) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

= 5= R (E)

BEALIRS
REE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLFERETZ
BABBMALTRSBERAREBLE M IEREM T
38 FE o

ZEBABI W AEK ETRAIE TR ER
5/ FHEEERS -

EERBSTRAERKRMD - HEKR
RESTHERRAR

RZZE_—F+-_A=+—0 ' ' BEERARARS
TBABESEREAQRIRERE ZE(EEREFHFR
HIE IR BIEXVER) AR - RGN REFHF ()
BEREBERAE G EXVEBE7 RN HBME R
NEI R RIS SAR (BRESRIEES
K HR & 15018 BRGSO & 1E SR 1B B MO 2 sl
B) RO BRAREESF MBS IEHEIS21EET
BERECMANERSAR @ ROBRBEESTHT
MERNRB MBS RABTAT ¢

(a) RAEXTARS - HEROREFNETRE

Percentage of

Number of the issued
Name of Director Capacity shares held share capital’®
ExpS ) RO E ERITREBDL:
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Interest of controlled corporation 70,718,8592 14.37%

HIRE T4 AR HLAE e R

Note:

1. These shares represent shares held by Metroasset Investments Limited in which Mr.

Hung Tsung Chin beneficially owns 45.09% of the issued share capital.

2. All the above shares were held in long position.
3. The calculation is based on the total number of 492,161,490 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2022.

BT -

1. ZERAD K K Metroasset Investments Limited$ A #)
B - RERME S E B S A XA R AI45.09% B 1T
A& o

2. D ATE -

3. HEEREABII T —_F+_A=+—AAFAE
176 ££492,161,4908% °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEDTWE (F

(b) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of associated corporations of the Company
Name of associated corporation:

Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

(b) RAEATHEEZENRG - HERGORE
FHIEFE
FABLEE ST -
BB AR A 8*(Pro Brand Technology, Inc.)

Percentage
Number of to the issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held share capital
2817
EEnE 14 RO EAE & N=R
Mr. Chen Wei Chun Interest of controlled corporation 350,000'
REEHKE REHEENER
Beneficial owner 300,000°
EREAA
Total 650,000 0.82%
@Et
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Beneficial owner 450,000° 0.57%
HERE K& EnBEAA
Notes: FfsE -

1. These shares represent 350,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc, a non -wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, held by Jun Zhong Investment Limited* ($5{F
& HBBRAR]) in which Mr. Chen Wei Chun beneficially owns the entire issued
share capital.

2. These shares represent 300,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Chen Wei Chun.

3. These shares represent 450,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO; or (¢) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

* For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EEEHRE @

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF BEESRPEKHEFHERENRR
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO EERKA

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register kept by the Company under Rn=

T _F+A=1+—H REARFAREE

Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies and persons, other than the %%&,Hﬁié1'%15']%336{%@%5’7%355% LATRATRIRA

Directors and chief executive of the Company, had long positions of 5% or H(ESEAA SITHRAERIN HEAIRIEES
more in the shares and underlying shares which fell to be disclosed to the 53! f”i{lﬂﬁﬂ%X\/-‘B%Z’\*B&%y\* IR NI B
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO: FE 5%k LA XD RARBARR D 0 EF B ¢
Interests in the shares and underlying shares R0 & AEEE IR 17 Ry R 22
Number of
ordinary
shares and Percentage of
underlying the issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held share capital’®
FsEER 2817
REREHE 514 REBERSHE RAB DS
Metroasset Investments Limited' Beneficial owner 70,718,859 (L) 14.37%
Ema A
Ms. Chen Mei Huei? Interest of controlled corporation 70,718,859 (L) 14.37%
PREB 2212 RELERE RS
First Steamship Company Limited? Interest of controlled corporation 142,628,902 (L) 28.98%
wR D AR AR R R R
Legacy Trust Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 76,520,000 (L) 15.55%

REHDEE

Notes: B

1. These shares are held by Metroasset Investments Limited, 45.09% of the issued share capital 1.
of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

2. The shares are the same batch of shares (as referred to in note 1) held by Metroasset 2.
Investments Limited, 44.38% of the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Ms.
Chen Mei Huei the spouse of Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

3. First Steamship Company Limited is interested in 142,628,902 shares through First Mariner 3.
Holding Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary, which holds 124,950,000 shares and Grand Citi
Limited, its non-wholly owned subsidiary, which holds 17,678,902 shares.

4. These shares are held by Legacy Trust Company Limited, 100% of the issued share capital of 4.
which is beneficially owned by Mr. Vincent Chok.

76,520,000 (5)

% % B% 17 M Metroasset Investments Limited ¥ & - fﬁ
Metroasset Investments Limited #]45.099% 2, 317 & 7x i L 52
HEEERES °

% S5 A EE1 BTt A Metroasset Investments Limited#5 7
7[R —BEA% 1D © M Metroasset Investments Limited #J44.38%
BRETRAHREZT LT CREEXECRB)ERES °

AR AR A B)E B E 2 & M B A AlFirst Mariner Holding
Limited & £ 3F 2 &I /& 2 BlGrand Citi Limited74 142,628,902
BE A% 17 AR A #E 2 - ELFRFirst Mariner Holding Limited$5 48
124,950,0008% %17 * MGrand Citi Limited$§ 5 17,678,902 &

f/\ °

A BLegacy Trust Company Limited fiiF B & ITRAZ B H
?&iﬁﬁﬁﬁf?ffiﬂﬂ+ﬁﬂf&2&ﬁ% L
alii}

5. The calculation is based on the total number of 492,161,490 Shares in issue as at 31 December 5. BER-_SE__F+T_A=ZT—BEBETRHMEH
2022. 492,161,4900 5T & ©
(L) - denotes long position; (S) - denotes short position L-RTIEHE (5 -RTAR
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Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any Company
or other person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short positions of 5% or more in the shares and
underlying shares for the year ended 31 December 2022 which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws
in Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
under which the Company would be obliged to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to the existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount of public
float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by BDO. A resolution for the re -appointment of BDO as the
Company's auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to Shareholders
by reason of their holdings of the shares of the Company. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the shares, they are
advised to consult an expert.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak
and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the Company (“Register
of Members”) will be closed as appropriate as set out below tentatively:

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for At 4:30 p.m.

registration with the Branch Share Registrar on Thursday, 1 June 2023

Record Date Thursday, 1 June 2023

Closure of the Register of Members Friday, 2 June 2023 to
Thursday, 8 June 2023

(both days inclusive)

For purpose mentioned above, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Branch Share Registrar, at Room 2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong no later than the aforementioned latest time. Should there
be any update to the above schedule, shareholders will be informed in due

course.

For and on behalf of the Board

Kuo Jen Hao

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN R A

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

&% : +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SANDMARTIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sandmartin
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 211, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited
ERUEREMEBRMERAR

25 Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$77,548,000 attributable
to owners of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 and,
as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$178,964,000. As stated in note 3(b), these conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in note 3(b), indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going

concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables

(Refer to notes 5, 21, 22, 25 and 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries with a principal amount of US$71,298,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$555,946,000) and related interest receivables with a gross
amount of US$37,504,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$292,437,000),
several receivables from an associate, Dish Media Network Limited, including (i)
loan to an associate with a principal amount of HK$23,268,000; and (ii) amount
due from an associate (including trade and interest receivables) with a gross
carrying amount of HK$42,300,000. In addition, the Group had trade and bills
receivables with a gross carrying amount of HK$259,208,000 as at 31 December
2022.

The Group elected to measure loss allowances for amount due from an
associate which is trade in nature and trade and bills receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and calculated expected credit losses ("ECLs") based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has engaged an independent specialist in assisting
the Group to establish a provision matrix that is based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
associate and the economic environment.

The Group measured the ECLs of loan to an associate and interest receivables
at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs is the portion of
the lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. The Group measured the ECLs of loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries using lifetime ECLs as these receivables are considered credit-
impaired. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the
Group has engaged an independent specialist to consider reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)

Based on the Group's measurement, ECLs of loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries, loan to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade
and bills receivables of HK$848,383,000, HK$2,465,000, HKS4,285,000 and
HK$123,263,000 respectively were recognised as at 31 December 2022. As a
result, the net amounts of loan receivables due from former subsidiaries, loan
to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade and bills receivables
were nil, HK$20,803,000, HK$38,015,000 and HK$ 135,945,000 respectively as at
31 December 2022.

Accordingly, reversal of ECLs on financial assets of HK$10,526,000 were
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

We identified impairment assessment of receivables as a key audit matter
because significant amount of judgment and estimation was involved in

determining the ECLs allowance.

Our response
Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
included:

Evaluating the independent specialist's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

- Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade

receivables;

- Testing the accuracy and evaluating the relevance of the historical loss
data as an input to the expected credit loss model ("ECL model”);

- Involving valuation specialist in;

- Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the design and
implementation of internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection, estimate of expected credit losses and making related
allowances under ECL model;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)
Our response (Continued)
- Obtaining and understanding on the key data and assumptions of
the ECL model adopted by the Group;

- Assessing the appropriateness of groupings of trade receivables

into categories of shared credit risk characteristics; and

- Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward
looking information to assess the reasonableness of the expected
credit loss rates.

Investment properties
(Refer to notes 5 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group held several industrial properties located in The People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") which are classified as investment properties measured at fair

value.

The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2022 amounted to HK$231,949,000, representing 26.8% of the
Group's total assets as at that date.

The fair value of industrial properties in the PRC held by the Group with fair
values of HK$196,910,000 and HK$10,411,000 was estimated using market
comparison approach and income approach respectively. The fair value
of investment properties under development in the PRC with fair value of
HK$24,628,000 was estimated using residual approach. The valuation of the
investment properties are carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer who possess appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation
of properties in the relevant locations. The appropriateness of the valuation
is dependent on determination of certain key assumptions that require an
exercise of management judgement included reversionary yield, estimated
rental value, discount on quality of comparable properties and adjusted market
price and estimated budget costs of the properties under development. We
identified valuation of the Group's investment properties as a key audit matter
due to the size of the balance and determination of the fair values involves
significant judgement and estimation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Our response

Our key procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties

included:

- Evaluating the independent professional valuer’'s competence,

capabilities and objectivity;
- Involving valuation specialist in

- evaluating and assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions adopted; and

- checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
input data used in the valuation.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

VR CTEE=NE |

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’'s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Conhnued)
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Tsui Fong

Practising Certificate Number P05440

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= A
A
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15K

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE-_Z__F+-A=+—HLEFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B &E FH&xT THIT
Revenue I & 6 745,954 926,471
Cost of sales HHE RN (666,262) (805,276)
Gross profit EF 79,692 121,195
Other income, gains and losses HEMA - Wz K EE 8 41,899 47,469
Increase in fair value of investment properties &2 A A F(EHLHN 17 34,974 19,006
Write off of investment properties for WEREER 2 REYE
re-development (21 051) -
Distribution and selling costs A3 K s E R AR (23,147) (27,895)
Administrative and other expenses TR REMES (92, 967) (110,287)
Research and development costs I N (22,939) (27,382)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate fEE— B A AR R (B1R), & 5 20 (45,427) 4,487
Loss on changes in ownership interest R— S R a R
in an associate o) E51E (1,240) =
Reversal of/(provision for) expected credit losses 4 Bt & 2 8 TE 2= B 518
on financial assets BE () 10,526 (14,895)
Finance costs [ELE= D %N 9 (28,161) (28,140)
Loss before income tax expense Frisfik HAIE A (67,841) (16,442)
Income tax expense stz B 10 (12,674) (9,819)
Loss for the year AEEEE 11 (80,515) (26,261)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax Hit2mEUk s (HBRBIE)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HIZrEE S 2 1Eam Y EA -
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation of — MBI INETFHVE K Z 5
foreign operations (4,676) 553
— Re-measurement loss on defined benefit plan  — R EEFFHE 2 B EEE (124) =
— Reclassification of currency translation reserve — A —FEEt & A B EA EEZEH)
to profit or loss upon changes in ownership BEBHERBEENOEAER
interest in an associate 3,073 -
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHME2EmKE (1,727) 553
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEXHAKNEEAEE (82,242) (25,708)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

VN
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE-_ZEZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: THEHEEERFERSA :
— Owners of the Company VNG 2PN (77,548) (25,433)
- Non-controlling interests — FEPE A (2,967) (828)
(80,515) (26,261)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: T 51| %18 fE {5 2 [H UK 25 44 8 ¢
— Owners of the Company . NG ZE DN (81,052) (26,438)
— Non-controlling interests — IEPERR R = (1,190) 730
(82,242) (25,708)
Loss per share SREE 14 HK cents &l HK cents 711l
~ Basic — &K (15.76) (6.32)
- Diluted -85 (15.76) (6.32)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR e B AR IR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
RZFZZF+=ZA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
iz FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR E 15 58,809 72,712
Prepaid lease payments A ERIE 16 1 30
Investment properties LB 17 231,949 230,797
Goodwill [GES 18 8,772 9,597
Intangible assets B EE 19 3,635 2,480
Interest in an associate R E R R RS 20 46,722 91,443
Deferred tax assets RER IR E B 23 4,247 3,922
Total non-current assets EmBEEMAE 354,135 410,981
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 24 137,404 205,038
Trade, bills and other receivables EBRESER BREER
H A fE W kIR 25 229,071 225325
Prepaid lease payments FERHAERIE 16 27 29
Loan receivables FEME K 22 - -
Loan to an associate BT —HEEENRNER 21 20,803 22,063
Amount due from an associate FE UL —FEI B & R B A FR0E 21 38,015 38,679
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRITER 26 8,252 3,603
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFERIRS 27 79,158 111,354
Total current assets MENE EAE 512,730 606,091
Current liabilities nREBEE
Trade, bills and other payables JEME SRR EBNEEK
Hfth & A 5RIR 28 356,072 398,853
Contract liabilities BRNEE 29 17,673 25313
Tax liabilities WMIEAE 15,697 11,843
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 269,941 144,083
Provision for financial guarantee BT YRR 30 27,332 27,332
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 4,979 4,992
Total current liabilities BB ERHE 691,694 612,416
Net current liabilities REBAETFE (178,964) (6,325)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBER 175,171 404,656

20205% / E2ETEEERERAT 81



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

Are SIS R (4

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
RZZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B =E FH&xT T
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 81,990 225,981
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEARE 23 66,786 67,746
Defined benefit obligation REBAEE - 32
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 13,544 15,804
Total non-current liabilities EmBBEETE 162,320 309,563
Net assets EEFE 12,851 95,093
Capital and reserves attributable to owners N2 TG A G RAS R # 1%
of the Company
Share capital A& 7R 33 49,216 49216
Reserves k] (74,989) 6,063
(Capital deficiency)/equity attributable to RAFIHA AFES
owners of the Company (BANE4E), #ES (25,773) 55,279
Non-controlling interests FEIERS RS 38,624 39,814
Total equity TS AAEE 12,851 95,093

On behalf of the directors

Hung Tsung Chin
Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=] =N
1; / ~ I|\I:Il|\ %j] %

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_T-__F+-A=-1+—HLFE

/\\/ \

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAEEAEE
Share Capital Defined Property  Currency Non-
Share Share option  Statutory redemption Contributed benefitplan  Special revaluation translation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reseve  reseve  reserve  suplus  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve  losses  Total interests Total
BhiE s [2 REEA UEER  SRAE FER
Bt BhHEE B iTEE BE EEER HERE GARE i B ZnEE ot B8 i
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000
TRt Thr TRr TRt TAr TRt  TEr TRt TRt  TEr TRt  TAt  TEr  TEn
(Notea) (Note d) (Noteh) — (Note)
(Hita) (Ristd) i) (i
Balance at 1 January 2021 H-%z-E-R-AzER 38108 506750 7960 3248 1713 - 124 89175 100437 (1453) (1039789) 14432 39084 53516
Loss forthe year KERER - - - - - - - - - - 58y 583 88 (6260)
Other comprehensive income, netoftax— EM2 ARG (HRHE)
Bxchange diferences on tranlation RESSNERREE
offoreign aperations MESZE - - - - - - - - - (1,005 - (1005 1558 553
Total comprehensive income forthe year ~ A E2EREAE - - - = - - - - - (1005 (25433 (26439) 730 (25708)
Capital reorganization (note 33(3) AR (B33 (295297)  (506,750) = = - 506750 = = = - 29597 = = =
Iste of shares upon rights e HREEARA
(note 30) (K 16405 50880 - - - - - - - - -6 -8
Transfer &i - - = M - - - - - = ) - = -
(278,892)  (455,870) - 213 - 506750 - - - - 295084 67085 - 67285
Balance at 31 December 2021 and H-BZ-E+ZR=1-RR
1 January 2022 ZEICE-B-AzER 49216 50,880 7,960 32699 1713 506,750 12489175 102437 (15537)  (770138) 55279 39814 95,093
Loss for theyear FEEER - - - - - - - - - - (77548)  (7548)  (2967)  (80515)
Other comprehensiveincome netoftax S 2ERE(IRRE)
Exchange differences on transation RAZEIERTEE
of foreign operations WENZE - - - - - - - - (64%3) - (645 T (4678
Re-measure oss on defined benefit plan REEE ERHEER = = = = = = (124) = = = = (124) = (124)
Reclasifcation of currency translation R-RBEARRRRER
eseretoproftorlossuponchanges BB EAEHE
in ownership interest n an associate EFAEEES - - - - - - - - - 3073 - 3073 - 3073
Total comprehensive income fortheyear ~ AEE2AUREE - - - - - - (124 - - (3380)  (77548) (8105  (1,090) (82,242
Transter £ - - - 995 - - - - - - (999) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2022 RoBoZETZRST-RZER | 926 0880 790  336% 1713 506750 - BN 102437 (18917) (B48681) (5773 386 12850
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

EEFBDE (2

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_T-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

l\\/T\

Notes: Bt
(a) The statutory reserve is required by the relevant law of The People’s Republic of China (the (a)
“PRC") applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC. The statutory reserve can be applied in
conversion into PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of a capitalisation issue.
(b) The special reserve represents: (b)
(i) the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of a group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares and the surplus
arising pursuant to a capitalisation of advances from shareholders as part of the
group reorganisation;
(ii) the difference between the consideration for acquisition of a subsidiary satisfied by
way of partial interest of a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of control in the
partial disposed subsidiary and the fair value of net asset acquired; and
(iii) the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of
control in that subsidiary.
(©) The property revaluation reserve is frozen upon the transfer of properties from property, plant (c)
and equipment to investment properties and will be transferred to accumulated losses when
the relevant properties are disposed of.
(d) The amount of HK$506,750,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the (d)

Company was reduced to nil and that the credit arising therefrom was transferred to the
contributed surplus account arising from the capital reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

/\\/\ Eﬁ, = /}|L$i§

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_F-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
- —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
iz FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REXBRESRE
Loss before income tax expense FriS %tz i A& 18 (67,841) (16,442)
Adjustments for: A THIELAE -
Amortisation of intangible assets B A= 336 1,392
Increase in fair value of investment properties &3 89 A F(EE N (34,974) (19,006)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BB MRIETE 10,230 11,891
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6,016 5,544
(Reversal of)/provision for expected CRIEENTRIEEER
credit losses on financial assets (¥m) i (10,526) 14,895
Finance cost B R AN 28,161 28,140
Reversal of property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR ER - (317)
Write off of investment properties for re- BEEREER ZIREME
development 21,051 -
Loss on changes in ownership interest in an R—TAEE N R B EERZEE 2
associate B8 1,240 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREENEE
equipment 7 171
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HEETLEENEIE 83 -
Impairment loss on inventories FEREERE 4,036 1,281
Interest income F B2 WA (552) (575)
Interest income from an associate D= AN =R SN (1,012) (1,004)
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories GFEREBERE (2,360) (2,718)
Release of prepaid lease payments B EIFESHEERIE 28 29
Share of result of an associate FEML—REEEE R R E AR 45,427 (4,487)
Operating cash flows before working LEECEHINLERENE
capital changes (650) 18,794
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/ (&) 64,587 (46,582)
Decrease/(increase) in trade, bills and other BUNE FERR - BURZEE K&
receivables H At e U ERIB R A (18 n) 16,076 (32,062)
(Decrease)/increase in trade, bills and other J:H%%EE: CEREER
payables AR IO, (32,653) 106,977
Decrease in contract liabilities BEHaERD (7,640) (5,094)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from an JE Ut — FEJBSE & R B R FUE
associate B (38hn) 176 (69)
Cash from operations KEEBESERNIRS 39,896 41,964
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

I\‘/—_I_\ e Eﬁr v ;ﬁ E % (/"g

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE—EZ-_—&E+-RA=1+—RHILtEE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FET T
Income tax paid ERPrEH (7,168) (9,260)
Interest received SN 552 575
Interest paid BEfHE (26,861) (26,910)
Net cash from operating activities AE R E R £ F R 6,419 6,369
Cash flows from investing activities REXEKESRE
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits B IELIFERTTIFEZR(FEN), SR A (4,649) 354
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWZ  HE MREATEHIE
equipment 200 3,275
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME - WE&EE (6,063) (7,339)
Addition of investment properties NEREME (7,677) =
Addition to intangible assets REETEE (1,580) (25)
Net cash used in investing activities KERGAT A 2 F58 (19,769) (3,735)
Cash flows from financing activities AMETERERE 34
New bank and other borrowings raised ERT R EMEES 156,244 81,441
Repayment of borrowings EEEE (167,975) (126,656)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities 2 E&EH EZH (1,119) (1,230)
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities XA THEBEAREIH (3,135) (5,393)
Issue of shares BIRG - 67,285
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities BEZE (BT FrisB </ FaE (15,985) 15,447
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash HERRESEBYORD),
equivalents EhnFEE (29,335) 18,081
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FURELREEFEY
the year 111,354 88,871
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INE[E R BB R (2,861) 4,402
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRRS KB EEY 79,158 111,354
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash ReRASEEYEHRIN
equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITHEFERRS 79,158 111,354
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its
shares are listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as the “Group”)
engages in manufacturing and trading of satellite TV equipment
products and other electronic goods. The details of principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective on 1

January 2022
2021 Amendments to COVID-19 Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-
HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards,
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and HKFRS 16 Leases
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material impact on
the Group's results and financial position for the current or prior
period. The Group has not early applied any new or amended
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

B 75 i % oY =E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 i 3% P o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—BIFHE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the

Group's financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The

Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the date

they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Insurance Contracts?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments)?

Lease liability in a Sale and

Leaseback’
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS"”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

1 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in that associate
or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts
and supersedes HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. The standard
outlines a ‘General Model’, which is modified for insurance
contracts with direct participation features, described as the
‘Variable Fee Approach’. The General Model is simplified if certain
criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining coverage
using the Premium Allocation Approach.

Amendments to HKAS T and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure
of Accounting Policies
The amendments require companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates. That distinction is important because changes in
accounting estimates are applied prospectively only to future
transactions and other future events, but changes in accounting
policies are generally also applied retrospectively to past
transactions and other past events.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments require companies to recognise deferred tax on
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts
of taxable and deductible temporary differences. It is apply to
transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the recognition of additional deferred

tax assets and liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS T — Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-Current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain that rights
are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the
reporting period. The amendments also introduce a definition of
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer
to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or

services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the Amendments
to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision to HK Int 5 (2020)
updates the wordings in the interpretation to align with the
Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not

change the existing requirements.

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
TR T AT HULESFE

BE

2.

3.

92

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS T — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the

2022 Amendments)

The amendments aim to improve the information an entity
provides when its right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to compliance with covenants within twelve months after the

reporting period.
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments impact a seller-lessee’s accounting for a sale and
leaseback transaction that satisfies the requirements in HKFRS 15
to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments do not change
the accounting for leases other than those arising in a sale and

leaseback transaction.

The above new or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not
effective are not likely to have material impact on the Group’s
consolidated results and consolidated financial position upon

application.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties which are
measured at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss of HK$77,548,000
attributable to owners of the Company and at the end of reporting
period, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HKS$178,964,000. As at the same date, the Group had bank
and other borrowings of HK$269,941,000, which is subject to
repayment or renewal in the next twelve months after the end
of the reporting period. Included in current borrowings as at 31
December 2022 was other loans (the “Loan”) with an outstanding
balance of approximately HK$194,938,000 scheduled to be
fully repayable in April 2023, and interest payment included in
other payables of approximately HK$8,812,000 which has been
overdue. The non-repayment of interest constituted an event of
default under the loan agreement. In addition, the Group had
capital deficiency attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$25,773,000 as at 31 December 2022.

These conditions may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability

to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company (the
‘Directors”) have given consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in
the preparation of a cash flow forecast cover a 18-month period
from the end of the reporting period for assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern. Management has also performed a sensitivity
analysis by considering a reasonable change in operating cash
flows on the forecast period and the headroom of the available
working capital. In particular, the Directors have considered the

following:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

(b)

M

Based on communication with banks, the Group should
be able to renew the existing bank loans upon expiry. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Group maintains good
relationship with major banks providing finance or facilities
to the Group and the Group has successfully renewed most

of its banking facilities based on past experience;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
lender of the Loan conditionally agreed with the Group,
upon the repayment of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$58,481,000) and accrued interest, to
enter into a supplemental loan agreement for an extension
of the repayment date of the remaining balance of the
Loan of US$17,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$136,456,000) to 20 April 2025 (the "Repayment
Proposal’);

As of the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Group has unutilised bank loan facilities totalling
HK$236,401,000, which are repayable twelve months from
dates of drawdown. They are available for the Group to
draw down to finance its future operations and financial
obligations; and

On 27 March 2023, the Company proposed to issue
738,242,235 rights shares by way of rights issue, on the
basis of three rights shares for every two shares held by
the qualifying shareholders on the record date at the
subscription price of HK$0.12 per rights share (the “Rights
Issue”) to raise a gross proceeds of approximately HK$88.6
million. The Company intends to use the proceeds of Rights
Issue to finance the Repayment Proposal as disclosed in (2)
above.

The Rights Issue is conditional on approval by the
independent shareholders as set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 27 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

Based on the cash flow forecast and the sensitivity analysis,
the Directors are of the opinion that the Group would have
sufficient liquidity to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the at least twelve
months subsequent to end of reporting period. Accordingly, the
Directors considered that it is appropriate to continue to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the management’s assessment and measures
mentioned, there is a material uncertainty related to the above
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Whether the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern depends upon
the Group's ability to generate adequate cash flows through the
above plans and measures.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and measures, it
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to adjust the value
of assets to their estimated net realisable values, to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively, and to provide for any further liabilities which may
arise. The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
("USS$"), while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"). As the Company is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, the Directors consider that it will be
more appropriate to adopt HKS as the Group's and the Company'’s
presentation currency.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a)

(i)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with
the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(i)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would be required

if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is
the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(ii)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities
and assets meets the definition of a business and control
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired
includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive processes
and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets and liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair values, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 "Income Taxes" and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 "Share-based payment" at the acquisition date; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EALHBZE(HE)

(@) Basis of consolidation and business combinations (a) HMEEEREEAG(E)
(Continued)
(i) Business combinations (Continued) (i) ZEBEEGH(E)

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations” are

measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net of the acquisition-date fair value amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the

basis specified in another standard.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration that is classified as

an asset or a liability is recognised in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associate
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE—EZ-_—&E+-RA=1+—RHILtEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an
associate has been impaired, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments". The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related

assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group
(such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable assets and

liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed the
aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit (“CGU") is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing its

carrying amount with its recoverable amount.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to
each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset
will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use
(if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is

transferred over time if the Group's performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers” (“"HKFRS 15").

Trading of satellite TV equipment products and other electronic goods
Customers obtain control of the satellite TV equipment products
and other electronic goods when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the satellite TV equipment products and
other electronic goods. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 60 to 120 days.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

If the considerations (including advances received from
customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
output method then the Group recognises a contract liability for

the difference.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their expected residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposals or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

The accounting policy of right-of-use assets is set out in note 4(h).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE—

4.

F-—ft-A=t-HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation. These include land and properties under
development that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are
recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather
than reducing the related expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Government grant (Continued)

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the

loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Leasing

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but
accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-
value assets and leases for which at the commencement date have
a lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset
The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would

comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability
(see below for the accounting policy to account for lease
liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,

unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

B

4.

E2-FE - —F+-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use asset (Continued)

Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures
the right-of-use assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. For right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property, they are carried at fair value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are
held for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40
“Investment Property” and are carried at fair value. The Group
accounts for leasehold land and buildings which is held for own
use under HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” and are carried
at cost.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments:

(i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;
(i) variable lease payments that depend on an index or

a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at

commencement date;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)
(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

(iv)  the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the

lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the

lease liability;

(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments

made; and

(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised in-

substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to
make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly
revised when the variable element of future lease payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate
remains unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment
is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the
revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is recognised in

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with
the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the
standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-
of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease

term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net

investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

(i)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, recognising the remaining
lease payments as income on a either a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the remaining lease term. The Group
applies the derecognition requirements of HKFRS 9 to recognise
modification or derecognition gain or loss on the net investment

in the finance lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of currency translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 July 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange

differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

(k)

)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in an associate, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

(m)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment
properties are measured in accordance with the above general
principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner
as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or when they relate to items recognised
directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.

Intangible assets

(i) Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on tangible and intangible assets below).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset

is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

11 8 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report

4.

EXEHHBEE)

(m) #&
()

(if)

CEE ()
1E1 5 AR T B (AR
RILFER B BEEME LMK
ERZLEMBIRFHREEER
ELRENEZEE  YEEER
LHFER IR N B TR o
A&

MR EEEMEERR
X °

A (RAEPIR B BEREBR)FEL
MABMELEBLEE  EHEmMEINA
THABGITE T THER

SERK & B B B Bl AT AT

M+ HET7 BT BAGE I S8

BERREVARLSEE
S

ERHE R EEMNGE

BREENRELAERRK

TN AL N2
Bz

ERBRARM - M RE
&R - AEREFRZE I
EREELERTEE &

MR ST ERTEERF
BRGNS HMEES -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Research and development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),

on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at the fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

(n)

(o)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for

inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.

Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction

price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") on trade receivables and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on lifetime
ECLs except when there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the

allowance will be based on the 12-months ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(o)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired
when:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or being more
than 90 days past due;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

al liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on

Financi

the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade, bills
and other payables and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
orloss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Continued)

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.

The accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in note
4(h).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
loss allowance, being the ECLs provision measured in
accordance with principles of the accounting policy set out
in note 4(0)(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vii)  Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding

adjustment to the share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share option

reserve will continue to be held in the share option reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in
an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is @ member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—BIFHE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(s) Related parties (Continued)
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Given Covid-19 pandemic has created and may continue
to create significant uncertainty in macroeconomic conditions actual
results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Expect for those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies and that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern assumption

As mentioned in note 3(b), the directors of the Company have prepared
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 based on a going concern basis. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making judgement by the directors of
the Company at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are uncertain. The Group’s management has
prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group covering a 18-month period
from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024 and concluded that there will
be sufficient funds from the Group’s existing cash and fund resources,
and cash flows to be generated from its operations to finance its future
operations to maintain the Group as a going concern in at least twelve
months subsequent to the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group and the Company
have the capability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC with carrying amount of HK$231,949,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$230,797,000) are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale; therefore, the Directors have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment
properties are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on land appreciation tax
on changes in fair value of these investment properties but has only

recognised deferred taxes on enterprise income tax.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on receivables, loan to and amount due from an associate

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant

increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,

changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on receivables, loan to and amount due from an associate
(Continued)

At each end of the reporting period, the Group assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial
recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected
life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes
quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking

analysis.

For more detailed information in relation to the assessment of ECLs of
financial assets, please refer to note 36(b).

Estimated impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and property, plant and
equipment

Determining whether goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
CGUs of the business of satellite TV equipment and antenna conducted
by Pro Brand Technology, Inc. (“PBT"), to which goodwill, intangible
assets, and property, plant and equipment have been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The discount rate represents rate
that reflects current market assessments of the value of money and the
risks specific to the assets for which future cash flows estimates have
not been adjusted. Where the future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of goodwill was HK$8,772,000 (2021: HK$9,597,000)
and the carrying amount of related intangible asset and property, plant
and equipment for these CGUs were HK$3,635,000 (2021: HK$2,480,000)
and HK$50,468,000 (2021: HK$57,520,000), respectively. Details of the

recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 18.

For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

S

B2+ -_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Write-down of inventories

Provision for slow-moving inventories is made based on estimated
net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgment and estimates
in identifying obsolete and slow-moving inventories and estimate
relevant market values for those inventories identified. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories
and provision charge/written back in the period in which the estimate
has been changed. As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying
amount of inventories was HK$156,513,000 (2021: HK$220,617,000),
and accumulated allowance of inventories of HK$19,109,000 (2021:
HKS$15,579,000) was recognised as at 31 December 2022,

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves significant judgement in
determining the amount of the provision and the timing of payment.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax expense is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises taxes based on estimates of the likely outcome
with reference to current tax laws and practices. Where the final tax
outcome of these transactions is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.
Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary differences
and tax losses will be recognised when management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the originally estimate, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax expense in

the period in which such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value measurement on investment properties

Investment properties included in the Group's financial statements
require measurement at, and disclosure of, fair value.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are

described as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
items;

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1
inputs; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement
of investment properties, please refer to note 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—BIFHE

6. REVENUE
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods
sold, less returns and discounts, and services provided by the Group to
outside customers during the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue is

iy 2%

WaEiE A REFARINETPHEEE M KR
HARTE M 2 Y S B R BR (B HNRR R S R 3
) - REBRESFOT

as follows:
2022 2021
—E-—fF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Sales of goods SHEE M 745,954 926,471

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information reported externally was analysed on the
basis of their goods and services delivered or provided by the Group's
operating divisions which are consistent with the internal information
that are regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of performance. This is also the basis of organisation in the
Group, whereby the management has chosen to organise the Group

around different products and services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Specifically, the Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

(i) Media entertainment platform related products
Trading and manufacturing of media entertainment platform
related products, which are mainly used for satellite products

equipment.

(ii) Other multimedia products
Trading and manufacturing of components of audio and video
electronic products such as cable lines.

(iii) Satellite TV equipment and antenna products
Trading and manufacturing of satellite TV equipment and antenna

products.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's
reportable segments:

Revenue from contracts with customer within the scope of HKFRS 15
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

7 EVER ()
LB - AEEREE BB RS %DEs
HZEEHHMT

\Iﬂﬂ

1:

(i) ﬁ%ﬁ%$§ﬁﬁ§%
EENMREREBRETERBER £
ERNEEERRE °

(ii) EM%@%E%

BEERBEXEETERZH  flUR
&

(iii) E*ﬁﬁﬁ&iﬁém

BEENBEHEERRENRGER °

AT R AR E X A 2/ BH R

BEMBHRELNE1SREBBANT S S LK

NV
=
T -

2022 2021

—-Bg2—- —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FHT

Media entertainment platform related products HEEIRE Y SHBEER 92,890 117,545
Other multimedia products Hh 2 g Em 133,311 271,886
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products BEERRENRREER 519,753 537,040
745,954 926,471
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS pan:idl 6y
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by A 2MMEED IO ARE B M= K EE
reportable and operating segments: AR :
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E_—_F+-A=1+—HLEE
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
I B8 1R Hih2iHE HESHRIZE
TEHBEER Em RRABER st
HK’'000 HK’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FEx FERT TER
Revenue g5
External sales HNEREE & 92,890 133,311 519,753 745,954
Results E$
Segment results DEELE (1,388) 4,910 53,023 56,545
Provision for expected credit LT e A EE
loss on loan to an associate ERMEHEEER
R (1,260)
Provision for expected credit JE U — F Bt 2 R B 5RIE
loss on the amount due WIE A E EBIERE
from an associate (1,500)
Reversal of expected credit loss JEWE 5 R R Ta HR
on trade receivables ZEEIEEm 13,286
Other income, gains and losses HAA ~ Wz R EE 41,899
Research and development costs — FZEACA (22,939)
Administrative and other expenses T K& H B¢ (92,967)
Share of loss of an associate i e ) /NI
g (45,427)
Finance costs YN (28,161)
Write off of investment WHEREER 2 RE
properties for re-development S (21,051)
Loss on changes in ownership R N R A
interest in an associate EnEE) s EE (1,240)
Increase in fair value of REMERN R TEE N
investment properties 34,974
Loss before income tax expense FriSfi s B RiEE (67,841)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEBER (&)
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (Continued) DR FEE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT-—F+T-_HA=+—HILFE
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
IR RE AR G HihZ e HEEERME
FEEMER Em RRGEm HBET
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHT T FHIT
Revenue Wz
Fxternal sales SNEBIHE 117,545 271,886 537,040 926,471
Results E
Segment results D EBEEAE 5,645 15,301 72,354 93,300
Provision for expected credit 4T — M E R EAY
loss on loan to an associate ENWIEHEEEE
B (92)
Reversal of expected credit JE U — e & A R RUA
loss on the amount due KB EE B B E D
from an associate 1,250
Provision for expected credit FEUE 5 R XA TE HE
loss on trade receivables EEBERE (16,053)
Other income, gains and losses HaUg A - Wk M EE 47,469
Research and development costs Bt Z5 A ZX (27,382)
Administrative and other expenses 1T M E M F % (110,287)
Share of profit of an associate Y e ) /N
s F LA
Finance costs & B A (28,140)
Increase in fair value of investment 3% & ¥ YA SFEIE HN
properties 19,006
Loss before income tax expense  FT18 %7 Hi A& 18 (16,442)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE

—E-_F+-A=1+—HBItEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the accounting policies of the Group. Segment results represent the
profit earned by each segment without allocation of provision for/
reversal of expected credit losses, administrative and other expenses,
research and development costs, other income, gains and losses, write
off of investment properties for re-development, changes in fair value
of investment properties, share of profit or loss of an associate, loss on
changes in ownership interest in an associate and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the

purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable and operating segments:

At 31 December 2022

2 EER ()

2 EB 2 K 3R 4E ()

EORH ST BOR EAKE G 5T BRMAR -
BRI D B PTIRENEE R - EIW AR DAL
HHEEERERF L TREEMRES
BPEAAR ~ EAb A - Weak KR B518E - MSH A 1E
BERZREYE  REVEIFENED &
H—EBE AR B  N—HBERRESR
BEDEH I BREBENAE - IIERD
EERRFGRAEIELERRERSENTA -

“T

ﬁ«

(

>

PEEERAE
BRI E2BRERENBANMNASEEER AR
LI

R-B-_-_#+-A=+—H

Media

entertainment Satellite TV

platform Other equipment

related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total

157 B 1R 44 Hitt2iEE HESHERE
TEHBEM Em RRBER st
HK’000 HK’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB FiB FiB T

Assets BE
Segment assets DEPEE 86,576 19,545 320,453 426,574
Bank balances and cash WITEEFENIRS 79,158
Pledged bank deposits BEIPRITFER 8,252
Unallocated corporate assets RO AREE 352,881
Consolidated assets SEEBE 866,865
Liabilities afE

Segment liabilities HEPEE 83,910 110,268 257,906
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R HMEE 351,931
Lease liabilities HEAE 18,523
Unallocated corporate liabilities ADBE AR BE 225,654
Consolidated liabilities mEAaE 854,014
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) PHEEREE(E)
At 31 December 2021 T —F+=-HA=+—H
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
RS IR L HibZ g HEERZH
FERAEmR Em R RGEm HET
HK'000 HK'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FAT FHTT FHIT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEPEE 54,847 36,063 400,618 491,528
Bank balances and cash RITEGFERIRS 111,354
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITER 3,603
Unallocated corporate assets KO AR EE 410,587
Consolidated assets HREEE 1,017,072
Liabilities aE
Segment liabilities AHEWEE 53,495 79,521 169,912 302,928
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 370,064
Lease liabilities MEARE 20,796
Unallocated corporate liabilities PN WNGIN=E 228,191
Consolidated liabilities AR E 921,979

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, loan to an
associate, amount due from an associate, interest in an associate,
deferred tax assets, loan receivables, certain other receivables,

bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
certain other payables, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, bank
and other borrowings, provision for financial guarantee and lease

liabilities.

ERNBRREND BRI EER

BRETUE BEERE REY
X BT HABEQTNER B
—MBERRHIEA  R—RHBEQE
ZiEm  RERBEE  EBEER -
HTHMEKRNIE ROTEFELRS
REERRTHERN  HEEESE

EREEHE R

BETHMEMNRIE  HRAAE B
EHBEEE  ROLKEBER - ¥
EREBLEERGEN  ABERES

REZKENE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

81

15 ¥R R MY o (&

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
TR T AT HULESFE

BE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Year ended 31 December 2022

7. 2HERE)
Http &R

BE-_Z_—_H+-A=+—HLEE

Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia  and antenna
products products products Unallocated Total
RERRg HittZHE HESHRRE
TEHBER Em RARER ROE Bzt
HK'000 HK'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TEx TET TET TET
Amounts included in the measure of St EDIEEZRHHHE
segment profit or loss or segment BERTANSE
assets:
Addition to non-current assets AEFRDEE - - 10,304 8,411 18,715
Depreciation and amortisation IE K# 210 35 6,938 - 7,183
Write-down of inventories TFE MR 4,036 - - - 4,036
Reversal of impairment loss on REFERESE
inventories (2,360) - - - (2,360)
Amounts not included in the measure 5t B9 JB18 2585 Tt A K
of segment profit or loss; 28
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 486 145 7,680 1,088 9,399
Release of prepaid lease payments BEEARERE 28 - - = 28

1 40 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Year ended 31 December 2021

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

7. DEER(E)
HttpHER(E)
BHE_ZE_—F+-_A=+—BItEE

Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Unallocated Total
LEE] e Hinzge HESELE
TERBER Em RRGER v et
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT THT TET
Amounts included in the measure of (BN BIERKHE
segment profit or loss or segment BERTANSE
assets:
Addition to non-current assets REFRDEE 117 - 23,116 2,058 25,291
Depreciation and amortisation E R# 108 411 9,903 = 10,422
Write-down of inventories GFEMH 1,281 = = - 1,281
Reversal of impairment loss on REGERERE
inventories (2,718) = = = (2,718)
Amounts not included in the measure 5t &9 JB18 2585 Tt A K
of segment profit or loss: &8
Depreciation and amortisation WE K 943 29 6,497 936 8,405
Release of prepaid lease payments EEBENRERE 29 = - - 29
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH PIFEBEEESHWE
CUSTOMERS
Media
entertainment Other Satellite TV
platform related multimedia equipment and
products products antenna products Total
RRRETERRER HitREER FEERRBRABRER by
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE |B-—4% |ZB-ZF |-E--F |ZB-Zf |-F-—% |ZB-ZfF |[-E-—F
HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 |  HK$'000 HKS'000
THET TiEx THR THL THT T THET T
Primary geographical markets TEHETE
Asia Tl 31,585 7,198 33,995 04,345 106,717 44,754 172,297 116,297
Europe 50 55,208 102,215 5974 4,042 4,800 18,979 65,982 125,236
North America BIS = - 90,647 200951 357,254 425438 447,901 626,389
Middle East hE 4,588 6,992 41 258 6,660 8,984 11,289 16,234
Africa M 802 1,023 - - - - 802 1,023
South America EES 699 - 1,954 2,037 44,174 38,885 46,827 40,922
Other regions HitE 8 117 700 253 148 - 856 370
Total a5 92,890 117,545 133,311 271,886 519,753 537,040 745,954 926,471
Major products/services TEER/BE
Set-top box (STB) AN 24,747 32,749 - = - = 24,747 32,749
Small Domestic Appliance (SDA) NIRE - 37 - - - - - 37
Other media entertainment products it B8 iR %= 5 47,347 53,701 - = - = 47,347 53,701
Connector %58 - - 3,387 6,189 - - 3,387 6,189
Cable and assembly SERER - = 48,291 75,946 = = 48,291 75,046
Networkings B - - 32,685 60,407 - = 32,685 60,407
Other multi-media products A5 ERERD - = 48,948 129,344 - = 48,948 129,344
Satellite TV antenna equipment BEERXER
products SEER - - - - | 519753 537040 | 519,753 537,040
Internet Service Provider (ISP) RERBERAE 20,796 31,058 - - - - 20,796 31,058
92,890 117,545 133,311 271,386 519,753 537,040 745,954 926,471
Timing of revenue recognition BEBAEY
Ata point in time HERE 92,890 117,545 133,311 271,886 519,753 537,040 745,954 926,471
Transferred over time BERS I REA = = = = = = = =
92,890 117,545 133,311 271,886 519,753 537,040 745,954 926,471
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC (country of
domicile), Taiwan, Europe, and North America.

The Group's revenue from external customers, based on location of
customers, and information about its non-current assets by geographical

location of the assets are detailed below:

7 ERE# (AR

i 19

AR BRI E B R E(EHAER)
= B R -

AEERBINDEF (REBZFHAHEN) MY
REEREEMEMEE D HIFERBDEENE

BB -

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current

assets (note)

REIIEEF RS FRBEE (M)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E-= T4 —E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT FET FHTT
Asia CED)
- Taiwan —22 15,203 43,542 17,606 19,439
~ Nepal —fEAm 30,939 5,972 46,722 91,443
- PRC (country of domicile) — Bl (FFEATTERD) 20,542 10,506 263,008 273,216
- India —HE 32,772 32,556 - =
- Hong Kong — &% 61,634 13,017 - -
- Others —H{h 11,207 10,704 9,832 6,898
Europe B
- Germany — = 43,434 86,500 55 92
— Italy —BEXH 1,124 14,097 = =
- Spain — AT 10,935 14,488 17 16
- Portugal —H&F 10 21 - -
— France — % H 1,314 2,627 - =
- Poland — K 3,486 4,151 = =
- UK — 3,824 881 = =
- Malta —EEA 182 19 = =
~ Russia — ki - 119 = =
- Others —E A 1,673 2,333 _ =
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—BIFHE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

7. ZEER(E)
AR (&)

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current
assets (note)

REIIEEF R E FRBEE (M)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F —E__F B
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FET FHT
North America IS
- United States of America ("USA”) — R84 R E
(M%&) 396,842 557,743 12,648 15,955
- Canada —MmEX 23,874 26,472 - -
- Mexico — =P8t 27,178 42,152 - =
- Others —HAth 7 22 = =
Middle East HR
— United Arab Emirates ("UAE") — A {EEE A B R E
([P BBt 2 ) 6,843 8,985 = -
- Others —HAh 4,446 7,249 - -
Africa FEM
- Egypt —=RN 424 495 - -
- Others —H A 378 528 - =
South America EZES
— Brazil —B 629 1,292 = =
- Chile — =R 8,325 12,376 - -
- Argentina — PR 17,416 12,951 = =
- Columbia —EHfmtb e 9,685 5,180 = =
— Ecuador —EN%R@ 2,078 2,203 = =
- Peru —WE 7,917 5,529 -
- Others — HAh 777 1,391 - -
Other regions Hibip = 856 370 = =
745,954 926,471 349,888 407,059

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from customer contributing over 10% of the total sales of the

Group is as follows:

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

DERER (&)

FERFER

27 82 A 9 5 00 B 1 0% 0 /5 M 2
W -

2022 2021

=HEE= B4

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Customer A ZEA 242,144 368,572
Customer B = FEB 94,752 72,542%

Note: Revenue from the above customers are from the satellite TV equipment and antenna

products segment.

*

Revenue of the customer in respective year is less than 10% of the Group's total sales.

M DR REREFEERRERRGERD B

BRI R R MR DA R B 3 48801 0%

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hfttly A - W= REBHE

2022 2021
—Eg-= —_E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
Government subsidy (note) B e (FsE) 749 509
Ancillary service income from tenants KEMBFHRERBWA 15,921 15,617
Interest income A B U A 552 575
Interest income from an associate 2K B — R QR A B WA 1,012 1,004
Rental income HB WA 16,958 20,334
Sales of scrap materials and samples RBEm R E = 73
Net foreign exchange loss HNEBSBE 1R F ER (2,779) (291)
Others Hih 9,486 9,648
41,899 47,469

Note: Included in profit or loss is HK$192,000 (2021: Nil) of government grants obtained
from Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched
by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group's employees.
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses,
and not reduce employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period
of time. In addition, the Group received various government subsidies from local
government authorities in the PRC of HK$557,000 (2021: HK$509,000).

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies relating to these grants
and subsidies.

it BETeEERBRERREREREES THD
RIRTBRZEFT B ([R BT BI ) B S BUT#8)192,000
BIL(ZEZ—F &) AUINEAEEERED
Fe o BREBERMENE  AEEEARFEZSEHY
ARFeHAY - BERETHEANTEEES ASER
WEIEEARFLAT o thoh - AEE G R B 5 A
R 2 B AT 85 557,000 8 T ( =T = —F ¢
509,000/ 7T) °

RSB RAETM S - WEAREKZ R REM
HAEIR -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERA
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRITREMEEF S 26,861 26910
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENE 1,300 1,230
28,161 28,140
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRBHIX
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT T
The tax charge comprises: MBS 81 :
Current tax: RNEARIIE -
- the PRC —rh 6,785 5,215
— Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong — R REBEAIN BERE R 6,306 5,045
13,091 10,260
Over-provision in prior years: BEFEHBEERE
~ the PRC — (2,646) (997)
— Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong — B R BB B EE R (758) (950)
(3,404) (1,947)
Deferred taxation: IRAERIE -
— Current year (note 23) — REE(HFE23) 2,987 1,506
12,674 9,819
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax rates applicable to the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

the PRC

The applicable PRC enterprise income tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% in accordance with the relevant income tax law
and regulations in the PRC.

Hong Kong
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits.

No tax is payable on the profit arising in Hong Kong as the entity
operating in Hong Kong incurred tax losses for both years.

United States

The Group's subsidiaries in the US are subject to United States
Federal Income Tax at 21% (2021: 21%) and States Income Tax at
6% (2021: 6%).

Europe
The Group's European subsidiaries are subject to profit tax rates at
a range of 25% to 30% (2021: 25% to 30%).

Macau

According to the Macau Complementary Tax Law, complementary
tax is imposed on a progressive rate scale ranging from 3% to 9%
for taxable profits below or equal to Macanese Pataca (“"MOP”")
300,000 and 12% for taxable profits over MOP300,000. Taxable
profits below MOP32,000 are exempt from tax.

No tax is payable on the profit arising in Macau as the entity
operating in Macau incurred tax losses for both years.

Others
Other subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions are subject to
applicable tax rates in the relevant jurisdictions.

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

10. FTBHiZ (&)
BE—_T-_—Fr-_ZF-_—F+_-_HA=+—H
IHFE  AEEFBLENBRAFMEBRE
IR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

PE
RIFETBEARMETOERENER - HE
MEABRERTEMRAERMEER
25% °

BB
BB NG HIZ GRS A 16.5%5T

st

ﬁo

HREEERENERRMBAFEES
MIAEE - FULBARKRE BB A
BAATIIA

xH

AEBHEBKMBRRADBIE21%(=
T —F :21%) R6W(ZBE=—4F : 6%)
HOFR R BB T ATIS HE M BT % ©

&M
REBOBUNMKE QR ERN F25%E
30% (=T =Z—4F : 25%E30%) T £
TSR -

A

BIBRMBAERE  PRIBER
300,00032P37¢ (BT |) Z FERFL = 5
AR ZEREN T3% 2 0% BT
M8 3B300,00038 P 7T 2 & iR £ o ) Bl 3%
12%F0 REF o D H32,00008 FITT 2 JE &R
Fim R ] A R H

HIVRFIEE c BRI MIEFEELR

HEE - MEBARMELE 2 E N
BiIA o
Hito

REMBIZEREENEMHERRZE
RABAERNEAR RN -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

S

10.

11.

B2+ -_A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income
tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

10. FREHiH ()
AR ERIE R O RARA A R 2 El
ROFFER LB RHRNT :

2022 2021
—E-= =T ==%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHTT
Loss before income tax expense FriS sz K A& 18 (67,841) (16,442)
Tax credit at the applicable rate of 25% (2021: 25%)  #&#EA M E25%(—F = —F : 25%)
AAEHHRIER R (16,960) (4,110)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7~ B] 0754 5l s &9 156 765 57 22 8,868 5,026
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BRRI A BB 7S 5o 22 (199) (570)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised ERTJE RO EENHETE (2,111) (1,860)
Tax effect of different tax rates of RE M A AR & &R B A R/
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions NEF R TS & 4,909 6,468
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERHWTIBEIBNR ST E 13,050 6,812
Over-provision in prior years BEFERBEREE 5117 (1,947)
Tax charge for the year REERIBZH 12,674 9,819
Details of deferred taxation for the year are set out in note 23. RNEEREFIBFT BRI EE23 o
LOSS FOR THE YEAR M. XFEEFHE
2022 2021
—F-_C —B_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year has been arrived at ERAFEBERENR
after charging/(crediting): (Bt A) :
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) E=WE (FtaE12) 3,179 3,336
Other staff costs Hih B Tk A 74,922 88,591
Contributions to defined contribution plans, %:QET KT E =X
excluding Directors (BFERKRIN) 2,067 2,242
Total employee benefit expenses EEEF R 4% 80,168 94,169

1 48 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

1. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. XFEEEIE(E)
2022 2021
—F-C —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Carrying amount of inventories sold HERFEMNREE 664,586 806,713
Write-down of inventories (note i) FEMR (HsED 4,036 1,281
Reversal of inventory provision (note i)* B[] 17 & B8 (P 3% ) > (2,360) (2,718)
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRER AR MFEKA 666,262 805,276
Provision for expected credit LT —EEE R FNERD
loss on loan to an associate TR EEBERE 1,260 92
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss on FEU — RSB 4N T FRIE MY
amount due from an associate JE R = B SR R ﬁ/ (@) 1,500 (1,250)
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit loss EUWE SR TEE = EE1E
on trade receivables (B[R, Bt (13,286) 16,053
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit loss on SRIEENTEEEEEE
financial assets (BEm@), B (10,526) 14,895
Auditor's remuneration ZE RN € 3,406 2,661
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENMEREITE 10,230 11,891
Reversal of write off of property, plant and equipment  #7% « [l 5= % 2% &5 Hf 5 3% ) - (317)
Write off of investment properties for redevelopment S FA{FEE Z IR EMZE (21,051) -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6,016 5544
Amortisation of intangible assets (note i) A EE () 336 1,392
Release of prepaid lease payments BOENHEERIE 28 29
Government subsidy BT Rh (749) (509)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y - BRE MRERNEIRE
(note ii) (B i) 7 171
Interest income (note ii) HEWA (B 7Ei) (552) (575)
Interest income from an associate (note ii) R — A a B F 2B (B i) (1,012) (1,004)
Property rental income (note ii) YA E WA (K EEii) (16,958) (20,334)
Net foreign exchange loss (note ii) HNEEBE B 1R 5 RE (M i) 2,779 291
Note i: Included in cost of sales FizEi - BERHEKEA
Note ii: Included in other income, gains and losses Wiatii: BEREMWA - WEREBEER
* The reversal of inventory provision mainly arose from inventories that were sold * BROEERETEROEARAEEELNEY
subsequently during the year
Included in the total employee benefit expenses is an aggregate amount EEBINBYECRBBIE AT H AT TE
of HK$2,086,000 (2021: HKS2,262,000) in respect of contributions to HHHH(BIEESE )48 %582,086,000/8 T (=F
defined contribution plans, including directors. ——4F 12,262,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

12.
PAID INDIVIDUALS

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST

12. EEmERAERESHAL

EEHE

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) Y N \
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as ENSENTEEESHMSHIIAT -
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_F__F+-A=1+—HLFE
Mr. Hung Mr. Wu Mr. Kuo Mr. Chen Mr. Ding Mr. Lu Ms. Chen
Tsung Chin  Chia Ming JenHao  Wei Chun Jin-Huei  Ming Shiuan Wei-Hui Total
HEELE REBAE PAREE REHXE ToERE ERHEE REEzt @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEn Thn ThEn THERn Thn ThEn T Thn
(Notei) (Note i) (Noteiii) (Note vi)
(&) (WEki)  (sdiin) (&)
Fees e 120 120 180 120 17 120 3 780
Other emoluments: =0l
- Salaries and other benefits  —54 REMER 1,409 - - 971 - - - 2,380
- Retirement benefits —RIKEFEE
schemes contributions HH 19 = = = = = = 19
Total emoluments iyt 1,548 120 180 1,091 117 120 3 3,179
Year ended 31 December 2021 BHE—_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE
Mr. Hung Mr. Wu Mr. Li Mr. Lau Mr.Kuo  Mr.Chen Mr. Ding Mr. Lu
Tsung Chin -~ ChiaMing ~ ChakHung  Yau Cheung JenHao  WeiChun Jin-Huei  Ming Shiuan Total
RIEETE REREE TEEAE ADERE DAREE REHEE TEBLE ERHLE &3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAL TAT TAR TAT TAT TAT TARL TATL TAT
(Note v) (Note iv) (Note ) (Note ii) (Note i)
(fsrv)  (BsEv) (BERD (Bski)  (Pkin)
Fees ik 210 120 76 114 141 120 43 f 867
Other emoluments: Etofis
- Salaries and other benefits  — 4 R EMEF 1451 = = = = 998 = - 2,449
- Retirement benefits —RINEREE
schemes contributions "5 20 = = = = = = = 20
Total emoluments Mese 1,681 120 76 114 141 1118 4 4 333%
Notes: Bsr
(i) Mr. Kuo Jen Hao has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company from (0 BAZEAER-_ZE-_—FNA-THBEZ
24 August 2021. EARERRBESE °
(ii) Mr. Ding Jin-Huei has been appointed as an independent non-executive (i) TEEBEENR _E-_—F)\A_+UHEZ
Director of the Company from 24 August 2021 and has resigned from 23 FAERNATBIIIERITES WR_"FE—-—
December 2022. E+—A—+=HAEE -
(ifi) Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan has been appointed as an independent non-executive (iii) ERHEAER-_E-_—FN\A-_+HBESZ
Director of the Company from 24 August 2021. FAERNARBILIENITES
(iv) Mr. Lau Yau Cheung has resigned as an independent non-executive Director (iv) BpERER—_E-_—FENA T+ N\BEER

and the Chairman of the Company from 18 August 2021.

Mr. Li Chak Hung has resigned as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company from 18 August 2021.

Ms. Chen Wei-Hui has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company from 23 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_F-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 12. EEERAEBRESHFALT(E)
PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEBREHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, AEBREERFALTH  —H(ZE
one (2021: one) was director of the Company whose emolument T—F: —Z)VAKRKATES  §@HS
is included in the disclosure set out above. The emoluments of the EHNEX - EBANZ(ZE——4F : |9
remaining four (2021: four) individuals are as follows: BIANTHMMEWT -
2022 2021
—E-—F B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Salaries and other benefits e RHMEA 6,169 6,054
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIRTEFIET I3k 131 126
Total emoluments 5 4258 6,300 6,180
The emoluments were within the following bands: BN FLATEE :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH EEAH
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7L 22,000,000/% T 2 2
During each of the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no REZ2-_ZE-_—FK-_F-—F+—-HA
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors and =+ BHLERFE  AEEWEREM
top paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the EENERHFREIMNMNE  (EABE
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director waived S ERENBEAEENEN S B E -
any emoluments for each of the years ended 31 December 2022 HE ST _—_FN_FTE_—F+=A4
and 2021. =+ BLEEFE  BEEENETM
B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

13. DIVIDENDS 13.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

BB
B RNEBEE-_ZE-_-F+_-H
—t+t—HLEFEMNRBARB(ZZE=—F
) o

FREE
AAREBRIES R AABEEREA RS
BRI T 5 BURA 8 -

2022 2021
—E-F —T—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR EERERBE 2 AAT
the Company for the purposes of BB AEERNEEBE
calculating basic loss per share (77,548) (25,433)
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
Number of Shares Ehgrarid=
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for ARETEERERBE 2
the purposes of basic loss per share T AR IR T 492,161,490 402,722,938
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents) BRERNREEEECEL) (15.76) (6.32)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been
adjusted for the share consolidation and bonus element in rights issue
which took place on 11 June 2021 and 21 July 2021 respectively. There
was no movement in ordinary shares in the year ended 31 December
2022.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for each of the two years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 are the same as the basic loss per share because there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares during both years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 1% - BMERRE

Freehold  Leasehold Furniture,
land outside land outside Leasehold  Plantand fixturesand Motor  Computer
HongKong  HongKong  Buildings improvements machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
REBUD i
MAAEE REBND g BEkE
i WEETH BF  NEEB BERES EL RE EERE gt
HKSO0D  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00
T Thnr T Thnr T Thn Thr Thn Thr
Cost Wﬁ
At1 January 2021 RZE_-%-F-H 3784 33% 55352 14247 173477 6723 133 7570 265881
Exchange realignment R HE 63 2 1558 248 242 443 7 420 5070
Additions HE - - 17927 g 5049 993 26 798 25266
Disposals il - - (84 (481 (12264 (1,900) (115) W9 (196%3)
Reversal of write off Mk - - - - 2,089 - - - 2,089
At31 Decernber 2021 R-E-—£+-A=t-H 3847 3417 74753 9917 170593 6,259 1515 835 278653
Exchange realignment [ (379 - (5928) (357) 9220) (1,256) (84) (109)  (18319)
Additions E - - 3321 245 578 19 - 40 9458
Disposals HE - - - (256) (3521) (108) - (675) (4560)
Reversal of write off & = = = = 285 = = = 285
At 31 December 2022 R~ —Ft-f=t-A 3,469 3417 72,146 9,549 163415 5,089 1431 7001 265517
Depreciation, amortisation & BHRAR
and impairment
At1 January 2021 R=2=-%-H-A - % 38207 9443 141,110 3703 385 6,233 199,177
Exchange realignment EiAE - 9 784 123 2113 330 I 404 3,764
Provided for the year RERRR - 4 5469 166 9655 826 406 866 17435
Eliminated on disposal HER = - (77) (4266) (9425) (1897) (104) (439) (16207)
Reversal of write off HHEm - - - - 177 - - - 1772
At31 Decernber 2021 R-E-—F+-f=1-A - 152 44383 5466 145,225 292 688 7065 205941
Exchange realignment um - (76) (2867) (279) (6,346) (807) 57 928 (11,49)
Provided for the year REERE - 4 6,509 54) 7180 n 426 822 16,46
Eliminated on disposal HERSHH = = - (256) (3.486) (105) - (672) (4519)
Reversal of write off Hi & = = = = 285 = = = 285
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—&+-A=1-A - 120 48025 5474 142858 B 1171 6267 206708
Carrying values RAR
At 31 December 2022 RZB-_—F+-A=1-A 3,469 3,007 24121 4075 20557 2316 260 74 58,809
At 31 December 201 RZBZ-FTZA=t-A 3847 3,65 30370 4451 25368 397 827 1287 771
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. Y% - BMERFZE(EH)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a Ltz BEMEREEEIR T IFRAER

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: EETETE ¢

Freehold land outside Hong Kong Nil REBAI KA ER L &

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong ~ Over the term of lease REBUINEE L3 AEHKN

Buildings 50 years or over the term of BF S0 E MK
lease or land use rights, Tt BREFER
whichever is shorter (i RE)

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the term of lease, HEMEEE 209% A EHIA
whichever is shorter (B REEB%E)

Plant and machinery 10% - 33":% TR R os 10%Z33"%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% R BEEERK 20%

Motor vehicles 20% - 33'3% RE 20%Z33:%

Computer equipment 20% - 33":% BB 20%Z33%%

Certain leasehold land and building is pledged to a bank to secure a NEED B EHEE T RIEFIEP - (EAK

mortgage loan and general banking facilities granted to the Group (note FAEEBEFAER R —RIBITEEANEIR K

39). #£39) °

Note: B e -

(@) The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets, included in the property, (@) REMEEERB MEREEE GTAYE  BE

plant and equipment, by class of underlying asset is as follows: RiE&E) HERmEENDTAT ¢

Leasehold land

Right-of-use assets ERAESE outside Hong Kong Buildings Motor Vehicles
REBUS

FIFEE L i BgF RE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHT FAxT FHT

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—%F—A—H 3,300 8,229 205

Additions A= - 17,927 -

Depreciation e (47) (5/437) (60)

Exchange realignment FE R 12 146 45

At 31 December 2021 R-_ZE-_—H+-_A=+—8 3,265 20,865 190

Additions A= - 3,321 -

Depreciation e (44) (5914) (58)

Exchange realignment FE 54 A% 76 (1,684) (14)

At 31 December 2022 R-B=-=%+=-A=+—H 3,297 16,588 118
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

2T -

16. EAHEENR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
FH-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHT

At beginning of the year REL] 59 86

Exchange realignment ME H SRR (3) 2

Released to profit or loss BEiEm (28) (29)

At the end of the year RER 28 59
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEBRBEINAE

Current asset mENE B 27 29

Non-current asset EMEEE 1 30

28 59
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

81

15 ¥R R MY o (&

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE

17.

T F+-A=+—HLFE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REY=
Investment
properties
Investment under
properties development Total
KEWMFE BRPREME HET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T THT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-_—F—H—H 205,442 - 205,442
Exchange realignment PEE 5, 3 B 6,349 - 6,349
Change in fair value recognised in RIBERHERZ AT EE
profit or loss 19,006 - 19,006
At 31 December 2021 R—E—_—F+-_A=+—H 230,797 - 230,797
Additions NE - 7,677 7,677
Transfer i (10,123) 10,123 -
Exchange realignment PE % (19,388) (1,060) (20,448)
Write off of investment properties for WEHREERE 2B
redevelopment (21,051) - (21,051)
Change in fair value recognised in RiEEPER 2 AT EE
profit or loss 27,086 7,888 34,974
At 31 December 2022 N—_TB-_—_F+-_HA=+—H 207,321 24,628 231,949
Note: FfsE -

During the year, the Group started certain preliminary work in respect to the redevelopment
of certain investment properties as set out in note 44. Accordingly, certain properties with fair
value of HK$21,051,000 was demolished and recognised in profit or loss.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2022 and 2021
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group and possess
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. The Group's investment properties were valued with reference to valuation by the

valuer using market comparison approach or income approach as appropriate.

For market comparison approach, the fair value is determined by considering the market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in similar location and conditions,
adjusted by the discount specific to the quality of the Group's properties as compared to the
comparable properties.

In arriving at the valuation on the basis of income approach, the fair value is determined by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance or
provision for the reversionary potential of the properties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 3% BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HeE—_ 2 - —F+-_A=+—HI&FE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. IREYE(E)

Note: (Continued)

For investment properties under development, the valuations were determined on
redevelopment basis and by taking into account the fair value of the completed investment
property and then deducting from that amount the estimated costs to complete the
construction and estimated costs of disposal.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their

current use.

Following are the key inputs used in valuing the investment properties as at 31 December
2022 and 2021:

MiEE - (&)

RERTREVEMS - HEDHRERZEEEE Xk
BEERMEZ R TE  REHBTKER TR Z A KRA
SREHEZ B o

REFTZEVENRTER  WENES RRERENE

RERE -

REZBEZZFRZT-—F+-A=+—"HAREYE#
TEERTANEEHAENT ¢

Relationship of
Fair value at Fair value at Key Range or unobservable
Fair value 31 December 31 December Valuation unobservable weighted inputs to
Category hierarchy 2022 2021 techniques inputs average fair value
—B-CF 2%
+t=A=t+-8 +ZA=+—H FUBERBAE
5l DAFERR AYE RHE fERN TEFUBERAE @EIMETIE HAFENER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER
Industrial properties in Level 3 10,411 15,778 Income Reversionary yield 59%-6% The higher the
the PRC* (derived from (2021: 5%-6%) reversionary yield, the
monthly market rent) lower the fair value
RETEME F=R& WNE ARESKA SuEeR(ZE-—F: AEFRALSS AT
(RABTEAE) 5%26%) HHBE
Estimated rental value  Renminbi ('RMB") The higher the rental
2.6-RMB18.0 per value, the higher the
month per square fair value
meter (2021: RMB2.8-
RMB20.0 per month
per square meter)
EitH4EE BRABEARARYE HeEELES ATE
TAR%26TEA BB
RE180T (==~
F:BAGTHRA
K28 E ARME200
T)

196,910 215,019  Market comparison Discount on quality 16.79%-21.89% (2021:  The higher the discount
of properties (e.q. 19.0%-31.1% on quality of
location, size and properties with
asking price of the reference to
properties) comparable, the lower

the fair value
TELEE EMEER(FlmmE 1679%22189%(=F ELETELENE
B RNRUE)E Z—F 190%F EESIE S

friz 31.1%) AFEBE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Mz (&)

17. BEWE(E)

Relationship of

Fair value at Fair value at Key Range or unobservable
Fair value 31 December 31 December Valuation unobservable weighted inputs to
Category hierarchy 2022 2021 techniques inputs average fair value
—B-Cf —T-—&
+=A=+-H T=ZA=+-8 FABERBAE
£5 DAFERR AYE AVE HERH TEFTBERAE HEIMETIE HATENEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER AT
Investment properties Level 3 24,628 - Residual approach Adjusted market price RMB4,000 per square feet The higher the adjusted
under development (RMB/square meter) market price, the
in the PRC* higher the fair value
hEERTREME E BEE BRETE(AR BFHIRARK4000T ERAETELS AT
B8/ FAXK) HEE
Budgeted cost (RMB/ RMB2,657.40 per square  The higher the budgeted

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A

reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:

square meter)

RHAK(ARS/
k)

feet

FEAR

ANERH#2,6574070

cost, the lower the fair
value

EERARE A THE
HIE

REMENATERFE=FALBERATFEE - MY ERH
RORFEFELRMAT

2022 2021

—EBC-—F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Opening balance F LR 230,797 205,442
Additions NE 7,677 -
Exchange realignment IE 5. AE (20,448) 6,349
Write off of investment properties for redevelopment WSHRIEER  IREME (21,051) =
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZFERZ AT EEZY 34,974 19,006
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FRER(ZF=ALEUERTE) 231,949 230,797

There was no transfer amongst levels during the year.

Investment property is pledged to a bank to secure a mortgage loan and general banking

facilities granted to the Group (note 39).

* The address of the industrial properties in the PRC is Xin QianJin Village "San Shi".

Tanzhou County, Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. The property

comprises Block 1-2, 4-7 and dormitory factory. The term of lease is medium.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
2022 2021
—E-—F B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
cosT B
At beginning of the year RFE] 93,341 93,884
Exchange realignment bE 5 (825) (543)
At the end of the year RER 92,516 93,341
IMPAIRMENT e
At beginning of the year REFEH] 83,744 83,744
Provision for impairment loss WA B = -
At the end of the year RER 83,744 83,744
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At the end of the year RER 8,772 9,597
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to MBENRMS  BECIPEZEUTERSEL
the following CGU: BAL
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products HEEERERREER
- PBT CGU — AR ELEMN 8,772 9,597
Goodwill allocated to other CGUs with gross carrying amount of SEEHMRESEABUNHNE L REAER
HK$83,744,000 was fully provided in previous years. 83,744,000/ 7T - ERBEFEZBEME -
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the management assessed REBEZZ-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE &
the expected recoverable amount of PBT CGU based on the higher of BERRBERAEANRA T ERE T SRR
value in use and fair value less cost of disposal. SR HEAENEREEESNNTERIKE
B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amount of PBT CGU has been determined based on the
value in use calculations, based on a detailed budget plan, the expected
cash flows beyond the detailed budget plan are extrapolated at the

18. B&E (&)
HERRRSEEERNTKESBEREHF
BeORYHBIREAEBHEAEE LR
TR R G R RIBE A BASNOTE R

growth rates stated below. The key assumptions used for value in use SRe [ FHBEFEFENTEBENT ¢
calculation are as follows:
PBT CGU
BEREESELEN
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Budget plan TEEETE 5 years 5 years
Growth rate 18 KR 5% 5%
Discount rate BHIR & 17.10% 9.88%

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. The cash flow projections are from the most recent financial
budget approved by the management. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculation are budgeted gross margin and budgeted
revenue, which are determined based on the unit’s past performance

and management’s expectations regarding market development.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B EE
Product Customer
technology relationship Others Total
EmE EERE Hith et
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT FET TFET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Ff5Ea) (fzED) (Pf¥zEC)
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—%—H—H 28,238 35,226 5,727 69,191
Additions NS 25 - - 25
Written off GGt (404) = = (404)
Exchange realignment FE 5, % 454 207 16 677
At 31 December 2021 R-T——F
+=—A=+—H 28,313 35433 5,743 69,489
Additions NE 1,580 - - 1,580
Written off G| (246) = — (246)
Exchange realignment P H (2,315) = = (2,315)
At 31 December 2022 JrA S
+=—A=+—H 27,332 35433 5,743 68,508
Amortisation and impairment ﬁﬁﬁ&’ﬁiﬁ
At 1 January 2021 RZZE=Z—F—H—H 25,430 34,198 5,727 65,355
Exchange realignment bE 445 205 16 666
Provided for the year NS B 362 ,030 - 1,392
Written off b6t (404) - = (404)
At 31 December 2021 R-E——%F
+=—A=+—H 25,833 35,433 5,743 67,009
Exchange realignment PE 5 A% (2,309) = = (2,309)
Provided for the year NS B 336 - - 336
Written off b (163) = — (163)
At 31 December 2022 RZE_C
+=—A=+—H 23,697 35433 5,743 64,873
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December 2022 i —— s
+—-A=+—8 3,635 - - 3,635
At 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—%F
+=—A=+—H 2,480 S S 2,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 i 3% P o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

 E—E——Et - A=+—HILEE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

19. BEEE(R)

Notes: B 7
(a) Product technology represents software acquired from independent third parties for (@)
the development of TV set top box. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over 2 to 20 years.
(b) Customer relationship represents contracted and non-contracted customer (b)
relationship arising from the acquisition of Pro Brand International, Inc (“PBI") during
the year ended 30 June 2013. The amount is amortised over its estimated useful life of
7.5 years on a straight-line basis.
() Others mainly represent the research and development unit acquired through (o)

the acquisition of PBT during the year ended 30 June 2013. The mature research
and development unit, which can support the Group’s product development, was
separately recognised as intangible assets based on the accounting policy stated
in note 4(m)(iii). It was recognised based on the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over 7.5 years.

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

EmBATiE RREERKIARMN FBLE =77 W
HE - BER B T FANERER

REMERERBEE T =6 "A=1HALEER
Iz #%Pro Brand International, Inc([PBI) T E£ M & %)
RIEEHRFRR - ZEBUR7SFR G E A
FHINRER RS -

HpErEEEERBE_T—=F A=1THILLF
EAREBEERRMKREOREEL o KA
BRI FAKERERFE - RIEHEE4m)Gi)FT
WENBRREBRBSEVEE  YRBEKEER
A HEER - #IHR7 SFAARER R ©

20. A—REIBE QAT ER

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Share of net assets of an associate G —EBE AR 2 FEE 46,722 91,443

Movement of interest in an associate is as follows:

R—TEBE QR 2 B ZEFINT

2022 2021

—E-F B —F

HK$000 HKS'000

FER FET

At the beginning of the year REY] 91,443 90,393

Share of (loss)/profit of an associate FEE—FEEE & N E 2 (BER), T (45,427) 4,487
Gain on changes in ownership B & N B A

interest in an associate* R EB) 2 Wz 1,833 =

Exchange realignment PE A #E (1,127) (3,437)

At the end of the year RER 46,722 91,443
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20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

M upon changes in ownership interest in an associate, the related portion of currency

translation reserve amounted to approximately HK$3,073,000 was reclassified to

profit or loss and presented as part of gain or loss on changes in ownership interest in

an associate

Note:

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had interests in the following associate:

B 75 5 3% BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_F-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

20. F B E N R Ay s (&)

Wi

W= ﬁ%%“ﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@& ERBREEE
HERED D 493,073,000/ 8 TEH D EEEZ - X275

BR— ﬁ%%ﬁ?%ﬁ%%*“ﬁzw o 1 —
85 -

RIF_—FR-ZT-_—F+A=+—8 ' AEERMA
THE QR ERER

Form of
business Place of Place of Class of held by
Name of entity structure incorporation operation shares the Group Principal activities
BEEE EREBER  SEMERIE Fed—$: 403 BB &R AEEEHE FEER
Dish Media Network Limited Limited company Nepal Nepal Ordinary 33.19% Provision of Direct-To-Home service
("Dish Media") (2021: 47.12%) for satellite TV
BRAR] JEHRE L] ) 33.19% AFHEBSHREHREEARRS
=ER==0E 3
47.12%)
During the year, Dish Media has issued certain ordinary issues to third A + Dish Media[M = #1718 T LB -
parties and its ownership interests held by the Group decreased from MERAEEIEE 2 BB EREZRRA7.12%
47.12% to 33.19%. AEE3319%
Summarised financial information: B 75 & RHgE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
As at 31 December R+t=ZA=+-—H
Current assets mEEE 222,125 128,369
Non-current assets FERBEE 566,099 496,666
Current liabilities mEaE (586,023) (368,484)
Non-current liabilities FErEaE (61,432) (62,487)
Year ended 31 December BE+-A=1t—HLEE
Revenue WS 341,862 318,361
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(EIB), % (126,166) 9,523
Total comprehensive income for the year REE2EMKEETE (126,166) 9,523
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 i 3% P o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

20. R—EBE R RAKNERE(E)
LB AR B SR A B R R AT R —
PR A Rl MRS MORR T S T ADSIPR -

2022 2021

—E-= =T ==%F

HK$’000 HKS'000

THExT T

Net assets BEFE 140,769 194,064

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest NE B A ERER DO 33.19% 47.12%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AREER—HE#HE AR 2

in an associate AR E 46,722 91,443

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

21. E—BBERARRIE KT —B
BENTNER

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FET
Current assets mENEE

Loan receivables TEWWE (i) 20,803 22,063
Trade receivables FEUE 5 R (ii) 35,986 37,487
Interest receivable on loan receivables FEUE 3R 2 FE YR B 2,029 1,192
Amount due from an associate JE U — Rl Bt & 2 B) K08 58,818 60,742

Notes: fEE -
(i) The amount is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.75% (2021: 4.75%) per (i) ZHEREERARREAEFMEI7SEFE(ZE

annum. The loan receivables will mature on 31 December 2023. (2021: 31 December
2022)

(ii) Amount being unsecured and interest-free. The Group allows a credit period of 360
days.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE 21. BEIR—EBEQATRE BT —B
(Continued) BENTINER(E)
Notes: (Continued) FIeE : (88)
(if) (Continued) (i) (#)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables due from an associate,
presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

R — R & R R E BIRAN RS HRIZER
REI22Z RERDITAAT -

2022 2021

—E-C—F —T=—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

More than 360 days #HiAE360H 35,986 37,487

Expected credit loss on trade receivables due from and loan to an associate was
based on the accounting policy stated in note 4(o)(ii). Based on the Group's
assessment, the Group recognised the provision for expected credit loss on trade
receivables due from an associate of HKS$1,500,000 (2021: reversal of HKS$1,250,000)
and provision for expected credit loss on loan to an associate of HK$1,260,000 (2021:
HK$92,000) during the year.

Further details on the group's credit policy and credit risk arising from amount due
from and loan to an associate are set out in note 36(b).

Bl—RHEgE AR ESRBERE T —HEBE AR
ERMEREEEBRENF40)()ME 2 g5
BURETE - BEASENE  FARNEEEHER
FEW—EBHERARNERE SERNEHEEEHE
#4%1,500,0008 L (ZF=—1F : #[E1,250,0007%
) RET—RABEARNERNEREEBREES
1,260,000 (ZZ=—% : 92,000/87T) °

FRAAEEEERRIER —MBEARKERSET
—MEMEARNERBHNEERR 2 E—PFHEH
HHTEE36(D) ©

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. BERER

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHExT THT
Loans receivables (note i) U E R (B 5T 12,989 12,989
Loans receivables due from former subsidiaries (note ii) J& U 51 i /B A =) &Y FE U B 2% (Bt 3%ii) 848,383 775416
861,372 788,405
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note iii) W RBR B (B g (861,372) (788,405)

Notes: FisE -
(i) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had loan receivable amounting to (i) R-E-——&ER-_T-——E+-_HA=+—H A&

HK$12,989,000 from a third party. The amount was unsecured and bore interest
at 1.2% (2021: 1.2%) per annum. This loan receivable was fully impaired as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

EBEERT —BE = HHEKE 12,989,000 T °
ZHERERR  BREREKI2E(ZTE=Z—F 12
E)FtE - ERERER T _ZFR =T =—F
+ZA=+—HEZRE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of the entire equity
interest in Speed Connection Group Limited (the “Disposal”), and since then, the loan
receivables from Speed Connection Group Limited and its subsidiary MyHD Media FZ

LLC ("MyHD") were classified as loan receivables due from former subsidiaries.

The loan receivables due from former subsidiaries were arising from the disposal of
all interests in MyHD and the extension of the existing loans to MyHD. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2018 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2019. The amounts were unsecured, interest-
bearing at rates ranged from 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis point per annum to 10%
per annum and will be matured on 31 December 2020.

The principal amounts of these loan receivables at the date of the Disposal were
US$71,298,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$555,946,000), in which amount
of US$9,554,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$74,497,000) due from Speed
Connection Group Limited, bore interest rate at 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis
points per annum; and amount of US$51,244,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$399,575,000) and amount of US$10,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$81,874,000) due from MyHD (the non-wholly owned subsidiary of Speed
Connection Group Limited), bore interest rate at 10% per annum and at 3 months
LIBOR plus 100 basis points per annum respectively, and the corresponding interest
receivables were US$11,728,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$91,449,000). These
loan receivables and the interest receivables, net of the provision of expected credit
loss of HK$219,103,000 as at the date of the Disposal, amounted to HK$429,410,000
were recognised as loan receivables upon the Disposal.

In December 2019, management was given to understand that Speed Connection
Group Limited and MyHD were in serious financial problem and ceased to operate
in late 2019. As such, management considered these loan receivables were credit-
impaired and recognised life time ECLs of the total net carrying amount of these loan
receivables of HK$429,410,000 at 31 December 2019.

The provision of expected credit loss was determined by the management of
the Group based on the creditworthiness and the past collection history of the

borrowers.
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22. EWER(E)

i

(i)

(%)

RBEE—ZT—AF+-_A=+—ALEE £&EE
EEREMEEARARZEDRA R ([HES
B BHLAE - RERMEEERARREWE
ARIMyHD Media FZ LLC([MyHD ) 2 EIRE X E 5
BREBKAMBARER

FEURRIFT A R ERTYEAE B HERMyHD 2 2 3B
@ URERTFMyHDRBRBERER - #FHEH2
HMARARBHAZZE—N\F+-_A=1+—HB2Z2R%E
RARRBHA-ZE-—NFRA-THEBZEX
ZECEREER R=EARRBERITEEFLSM
100EELZ10ENFNEFL AR =_T_TF
+=—A=+—HZH -

NEEEHEEY  ZERERERZASEA
71,298,0003 7t (48 & M #9555,946,0007 7T.) + H
U SR B 52 B A BR A F) 29,554,000 7T (B E R 49
74,497,000/ 7T ) &2 = 18 A R 1T B Z 37 8 100
BEZNFFRTE - MEKMHD (FEBEES
RARIZIEZENBAR) 251,244,000 7T (FHE
7 #49399,575,0007% 7T ) }.10,500,0003 7T (1HE R 49
81,874,000/ 7T ) Bl A BIR F FIZ10E R =18 A w3
RITRI ZEHF 20100 EE 25T 2 - FEFE A FE LR 2
11,728,000 7T (A& 7 4991,449,000/ 7T ) ° Ml
& E1E B N TE S BB B R #219,103,0007% 7T
% WS R LR S R429,410,000/ 7T -
ERLERBEERRBERER -

RIZB—NE+-A TEBAEEHEEAREA
AIRMYHDEREENEEE TR T —hLEFER
IHEE - Bt - BEERAEZSEKERCEER
B THZERRERR_Z—hFE+_A=1—
Bz SRR (E 4 5429,410,000/8 TR HIEHE
B -

HHEEERRERASEEBEEANERAZE
BRBEERRCEMEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_F-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

22. EWER(E)

Notes: (Continued) FfsE - (&)
@iy~ Allowances for doubtful debts (i) REREEAE
2022 2021
—E-—F &
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT
At the beginning of year REH) 788,405 709,581
Unwinding of discount B IR [B] % 72,992 61,657
Exchange realignment [ H % (25) 17,167
At the end of year RER 861,372 788,405
23. EEBIIE
28-S DELERREDRIAXATION RAEFEAEBERRNEBRLEHES
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by E (A RESFHNT
the Group and movements thereon during the year:
Fair value Provision
adjustment  Revaluation forPRC  Accelerated
onintangible of investment  withholding tax Provision
assets  properties tax depreciation  and others Total
EREE RE H mE
NPERE  MRER  BAKRE  RERE  BERAR ag
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL T TAL TAL TAL
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—%-F-H (2882) (52,634) (6,191) (650) 4212 (58,145)
Exchange realignment ESEL (15 (4011) (168) = 2] (4173)
Charged to profit or loss for the year RAEEBETR 740 (1935) = = @311) (1,506)
At 31 December 2021 W-E-_—-%+-R=t-AH (2157) (58,580) (6,359) (650) 3922 (63,824)
Exchange realignment 3 462 3,266 545 = i) 427
Charged to profit or loss for the year RAFERENR % (3337) = = 306 (2,987)
At 31 December 2022 R-Z-—F+-f=1-H (1,671) (58651) (5814) (650) 4247 (62539)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—BIFHE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

23, JEFEBIE ()

L1 75 2 A & F h eVIRIE B TR A BR 0 AT 10

reporting purposes: T
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets BT I A E 4,247 3,922
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE (66,786) (67,746)
(62,539) (63,824)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unrecognised tax losses of
HK$169,044,000 (2021: HK$88,745,000) available for offset against future
profits due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax at

+=A=+—8

R EETERRIENHR > R_F——

F REBBRERNRIBERE

AR SR HOR R

REBEFBRERMERZL

169,044,000/ 7T (=& = —4F : 88,745,000/ 7T )

H_ZFETN\F—HA—

10% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has

BiERHH BN E A
FEMTEFIFE10% ©

ARG E’Jmﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ’]ﬂxg
PEERARE R

been provided for in full in respect of undistributed profits retained by MBEEBEYELERED 280845 E\ﬁ%ﬁﬁt}:
PRC entities in the consolidated financial statements. B o
24. INVENTORIES 24, 515

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR TET

Raw materials R 27,828 41397

Work in progress TR 13,388 24,428

Finished goods RUAK 96,188 139,213

137,404 205,038
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

25. EIWES RN  EREERHME

==
WK IE

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HKS'000
TExT FET
Trade and bills receivables U E 5 BR A % PR U = 4R 135,945 167,113
Other receivables H b fE W B 93,126 58,212

Total trade, bills and other receivables EUNE SRR - FEUREE &
H bl G IR R 229,071 225,325

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 to 120 days to its
trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills
receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the year:

AEBETHEIRPZEERFHR0E
1208 - BREESZERARBREERFERIZE
SRR ZRESTAT ¢

2022 2021

T —E-—F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FET

0 - 30 days 0£30H 114,995 131,109
31 -90 days 31290H 10,889 34,133
91 - 180 days 912 180H 6,591 3,647
More than 180 days HiE180H 126,733 146,964
259,208 315,853

Less: Loss allowance B BB RS (123,263) (148,740)
135,945 167,113
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE

25.

26.

27.

—E-_F+-A=1+—HBItEE

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The other classes within trade, bills and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets. Expected credit loss on trade receivables was based
on the accounting policy stated in note 4(0)(ii). Based on the Group's
assessment, the Group recognised reversal of expected credit loss on
trade receivables of HK$13,286,000 (2021: provision for expected credit
loss of HK$16,053,000) during the year.

Further details on the Group's credit policy and risk arising from trade

debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 36(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure short-term
bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 39). The deposits carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 0.01% to 1.30% (2021: 0.01% to 1.69%) per
annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement

of short-term bank borrowings.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash of the Group comprise bank balances and cash
held and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing at floating
interest rate and are with original maturity of three months or less. The
remaining bank deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
1.15% (2021: 0.01% to 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HKS$13,204,000 (2021: approximately
HK$38,899,000). RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies in
the PRC. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.
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25.

26.

27.

EWREZERNR - BREBERHAE
WeskE (&)

FEWRE SRR - U R E A U GRIBE R
HBER I TREERELE - BRESE
FHBEHREEBRIBEMR T4 ZE
FTBURETE - REBEASEFE  AEBERA
FERABRESRINBHEESHEED
13,286,000 (== — % : THEEEEER
1%16,053,0005 7T ) °

BERAASEEERRRERE SRR LER
SREFNEERR ZE - FHBANKE
36(b) °

2IEFRITERK
ZeBERAEEERNE RIRITEE MK
FIRITHFR(MIFE39) - ZEFERIENT
001 EE130E(ZE=_—% : 001EE1.69E)
ZFEMEEFHEF B - BEBRITFEZER
RHRITE BB ER MR -

RITEFRASE
AR BRI S BRI T RE
SURBIHFEH B RN EA KSR

AR BB HRITER o FIRBITERIEN T
001EZE1I5E(ZFE=—F : 001EZ030F)
2 EWETEFEF RS -

RIB-_—F+-A=+—8 HUARE:
BErIR e RIRITAEFLA13,204,0008 T (ZF
——1F 1 #38,899,000/87T) - ARMEFEIE
MNETBE B B IR AINE o IRIBPREAINEE
BARBIFGEIE - EERNESERTE @ ANEEH
AT RBFERIT LB ARE BINEFRRINE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. EREZRR  BENEERHEME

IR
2022 2021
—E=-C —T-—F
HK$000 HKS'000
FER FET
Trade payables FEE 2R 187,988 231,776
Bills payables R E % 83 377
Deposits received (note 44) B Wiz e (Fiska4) 67,167 73,997
Other payables and accruals (note) E At e FRIA R FERTIR B (FI5E) 100,834 92,703
356,072 398,853

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables, presented

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods:

ENEZEAMENRENREMRIZERA
M2 ZREDHMT

2022 2021

T — B —F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET T

0 - 30 days 0Z230H 99,967 199,769
31 -90 days 31%290H 25,818 19,481
91 - 360 days 91&360H 44,256 4,658
More than 360 days Hi®360H 18,030 8,245
188,071 232,153

BREEmMFHEENR0A -

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days.

Note: An amount due to a director of HK$1,704,000 (2021: HK$4,308,000) which was
included in other payables. It is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BsE - E BT FRIB B 1E —E FEE F 3K 1,704,0005%8 7T
ZTZ—4F : 43080008 7T) + LFIAAEEE -
% B B BIRENKEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 i 3% P o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. EHAE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Contract liabilities arising from: AU TEEANEGHNEE
Sale of goods HEED 17,673 25,313
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEEEH
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Balance as at 1 January R—A—B#&& 25,313 30,407
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FARERRFIETA
recognising revenue during the year that was BBz kR ER
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning &%) & &R 2
of the year (25,313) (30,407)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipt in  [F $5 € S ¥)TE U FRIBE R
advance of sale of goods AR EE N 17,673 25,313
Balance as at 31 December R+-—A=+—H#%&#% 17,673 25,313

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. The Group's sales contracts generally have an
original expected duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group
has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for
the contracts existed that has an original expected duration of one year
or less at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

The Company had pursuant to the guarantee (the “Guarantee”) given
in favour of MyHD irrevocably guaranteed to pay all financial obligations
of MyHD in relation to the third amendment agreement to the content
supply agreement (the “Content Supply Agreement’) dated 3 October
2016 which was entered into between MyHD and MBC FZ LLC. The
Guarantee does not expire and the maximum amount payable by
the Company under the Guarantee should not exceed US$3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,332,000).

The Guarantee does not contain any conditions which need to be
fulfilled or any circumstances which must arise before MyHD can enforce
the same and demand payment from the Company. Notwithstanding
that MyHD failed to observe all its payment obligations under the third
amendment agreement to the Content Supply Agreement, since the
date of the Guarantee up to the reporting date, the Company has not
received any demand for payment from MyHD under the Guarantee.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had recognised the provision
for financial guarantee amounting to US$3,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$27,332,000) in relation to the Guarantee.

30.

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

MBERESE
ARRAFEREREMYHDZ FI2SEH 2 BR ([
R1) + FAIEE AR F 2 MyHD A BMyHD
EAMBC FZ LLCATE]I . BEAA =T —R"F T+ H=
BzARAHERZ((ABHERE D E=n5
SRR TEMBEM - RIERLESHA
MARARIREEREMZEZSLETFER
3,500,0003 7T (F8 & 7 4927,332,000% 7T ) °

BRI ASEMATERZGHERBAEREZ
EAIER - AMBRMyHDIITHER R EBRKAR
AR o BB MyHDAR BEE N A A (18 3 2%
F=EFTHBET ZMBENKEE - HEBER
HEEEE®mE AL - AAR EEEEM
A MyHDIRIZ AR IR i 2 AT RESK -

RZFZZGFR-F_—F+-A=+—8"
AEBED RIERERSE3,500,000F T (HE
R 4927,332,00078 70 ) 2 B A AR B -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

31. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS

1. RITREMEER

2022 2021
—E-= T %
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHTT
Bank loans RITEK 150,704 174,276
Other loans HEaER 201,227 195,788
351,931 370,064
Analysed as: DHTA
Secured B 107,469 91,105
Unsecured AR R 244,462 278,959
351,931 370,064
Carrying amount repayable: AR T 5 BRI EE R AR EE -
On demand or within one year BENRS—FR 269,941 144,083
In more than one year but not more than two years #8318 — 18 BB F 81,990 225,981
351,931 370,064
Less:  Amount due within one year shown under 3§  RREBIBEE MR —FERE
current liabilities HAFAIE (269,941) (144,083)
Amount due after one year —F % B ER I8 81,990 225,981
The range of the effective interest rates on the Group's bank and other REBRFRTTREMEE 2 TEH =& E a0
borrowings are as follows: T:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Interest rate borrowings

0.84% - 10.53%

0.84% - 10%

The security of bank borrowings is set out in note 39.

174 sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2022 Annual Report

TTIEFRIE R E A 5E39 ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. LEASES
The Group as a lessee:
The Group leases a motor vehicle and a number of land and properties
in the jurisdictions in which it operates as its office premises under non-
cancellable lease agreements, which comprise only fixed payments
over lease term. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets.

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

32. HE
AEEEREBEA
A= ERET AT S HE R G LR
AEEERERERET LR E AR
NEFT  REHHEERBROET R -
—BRME  AEETEEERSBREEE -

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FExT FET

Current liabilities mEaE 4,979 4,992
Non-current liabilities FErEaE 13,544 15,804
18,523 20,796

Future lease payments are due as follows:

AREEFRZEBERAT ¢

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value
BEHERIE FE RE
2022 2022 2022

—E-= —E=-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TExT FHERT
Within 1 year —F R 6,393 1,414 4,979
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWEN 2,847 1,246 1,601
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBERAFER 7,295 3,022 4,273
More than 5 years BiBEAF 8,949 1,279 7,670
25,484 6,961 18,523
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE

32. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee: (Continued)

32. HE (&)

AEEEREEA - (K)

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value
HEEEHIE A RE
2021 2021 2021
—FE_—fF —T_—F —F_—fF
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FHT FHIT
Within 1 year —FR 6,472 1,480 4,992
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERRER 3,911 1,350 2,561
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBERAFA 7,258 3,404 3,854
More than 5 years AR F 11,528 2,139 9,389
29,169 8,373 20,796

The Group as a lessor: AEBEESEHMAA :

Property rental income earned from leasing of the Group's investment FAKRBAERNEBRIEEYEEESNEMES
properties during the year was HK$16,958,000 (2021: HK$20,334,000). WA %516,958,000% 7T, ( =T = —%F : 20,334,000
The properties held by the Group have committed tenants for the next BIL) c AEBEMENRAKR—Z_+FF
one to twenty years. BRIQHEP o

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments

RBER - AEEREEBABF ] H A

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable ST ETHE N R KA FEW KRB IRFE S A
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: MR

2022 2021

—E-— —T-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

Tt T

Within one year —F R 14,955 20,877

After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMEA 14,170 18,909

After 2 years but within 3 years MEZRER=FA 13,885 18,102

After 3 years but within 4 years ZFREREFR 13,864 17,371

After 4 years but within 5 years MEBRERAFA 13,817 8,942

After 5 years hFE 83,282 116,022

153,973 200,223
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

33. SHARE CAPITAL

B 75 5 3% BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

33. B

Number of
shares Amount
IR EE KX
HKS$'000
FHTT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BIREEI10B TR LB
Authorised: TRRE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, A—E-——F—HF—H -
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —F-—®+-_HA=+—H8"
T _F—-A—-BK
—E-_—_F#+-B=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER :
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—%—AF—H 3,281,076,710 328,108
Capital reorganization (note (a)) IR EH (MiEQ)) (2,952,969,050) (295,297)
Issue of shares upon rights issue (note (b)) A% 18 B TR (FFE(D)) 164,053,830 16,405
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—QH"
and 31 December 2022 T F—-A—BK
—E-—_F+=-A=+—H 492,161,490 49216

Notes:

The capital reorganisation comprised the share consolidation, the Capital Reduction
and the Share Premium Reduction on the basis that every ten issued and unissued
Existing Shares of a par value of HK$0.10 each into one Consolidated Share of a par
value of HK$1.00 each in the share capital of the Company. Immediately after the
share consolidation, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by (i)
rounding down the number of Consolidated Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company to the nearest whole number by cancelling any fraction of a Consolidated
Share in the issued share capital of the Company; and (ii) cancelling the paid-
up capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.90 on each of the then issued
Consolidated Shares such that the par value of each issued Consolidated Share was
reduced from HK$1.00 to HK$0.10. The credit arising from the Capital Reduction was
credited to the contributed surplus account of the Company within the meaning of
the Companies Act and then was applied towards offsetting the accumulated losses
of the Company as at the effective date of the Capital Reduction, thereby reducing
the accumulated losses of the Company. The capital reorganisation was approved by
the Shareholders at the SGM held on 9 June 2021 and became effective on 11 June
2021.

i

(a)

BABEBIERARARRAP T+ REREEI0
BILZEBRITRABTRERNEHA—BRAAR]
B AP SRR E .00/ T 2 B HHR D 2 X EITH
DA G - BRAHIR RERR G EE - BERDE
BHERIE - AARIZBEITRADERBUAT AR E
1THIR - ()aESHA AR B BEITRAR EATHA IR
D BARRARIBBITRAPZEHBROEE M T E
BEREIEE  RIVZEBRERDHITEHRG
090 THMARRMERA - BUESREHITA
BERR 1D 2 E B F1.0078 TTHIR Z20.1048 7T - BEARANH]
WMEE 2 EREAFARDRIZERBHRE(TER
ARE) - HEAMNMEHEARD RRRABR A KB 8
ZE2ER MR ARNRARZBFEE - RAE
HEEBRENR-ZZ=—FNANABRITHREERIA
eHitE BT _—F XA+ —BBER-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_T-__F+-A=1+—HLFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)
The amount of HK$506,750,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company be reduced to nil and that the credit arising therefrom be transferred

to the contributed surplus account.

Details of the capital reorganisation are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 28 April 2021, 9 June 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 17
May 2021.

Upon the capital reorganisation became effective, the Company conducted a rights
issue on the basis of one rights share for every two adjusted shares in issue on the
record date. The rights issue was completed on 21 July 2021 and the gross proceeds
raised by the rights issue was approximately HK$68.9 million and an aggregate
of 164,053,830 rights shares were issued at the subscription price of HK$0.42 per
rights share by either accepted or placed under the rights issue or Compensatory
Arrangement and all the conditions with respect of the rights issue set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 24 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”) have been
fulfilled.
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(a)

(%)

(&)
AN AR 9 )4 18 BR 2 #E BR & %8 506,750,000 7T 4 Al
WET - MBNEENERBENERESEHRBHBE -

ERBRAEANFERRARARAMA T _—%F
Eﬂ TNEER-F—— Emﬂhﬁ%”iu&K
ARAMA—E-—FHA+LENE

RIRABAEERE - NARRNTEHAATHIRE
BITRAERGOEE —RERR D 2 EEETHR
ko HBRER =T =—FtA=-+—A%MK ' M
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34, MEBEERERM:E
CASH FLOW

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BB ETHEAN S EYHE
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITR
Hinfd & HEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(note 31) (note 32)
(BfFEE31) (FfEE32)
At 1 January 2021 RZE——F—H—H 412,984 8,254
Changes from cash flows: RERES RS -
— Proceeds from new bank loans —HTERITE RIS RIA 81,441 =
— Repayment of bank loans —EBIBITER (126,656) -
— Payment of interest element of lease liabilities —SXHHEEAERN SIS - (1,230)
- Payment of principal element of lease liabilities ~—XfJHEE&EALSIHH - (5,393)
Total changes from financing cash flows RMERS R ERE (45,215) (6,623)
Exchange realignment ME H, B 2,295 8
Other changes EmEs)
— Finance charges on lease liabilities **ﬂfﬁﬁmgﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁ - 1,230
— Recognition of lease liabilities —ERHEEAE - 17,927
Total other changes HEip B Eza - 19,157
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F+=-H=+—H
&_2::¢—H —H 370,064 20,796
Changes from cash flows: RERE R
— Proceeds from new bank loans —¥ERTTE RSB 156,244 -
— Repayment of bank loans —EEIBITER (167,975) =
— Payment of interest element of lease liabilities —XNHEHEBEMNEF S - (1,119)
— Payment of principal element of lease liabilites ~—XfHEE&EASIH - (3,135)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER SR ERE (11,731) (4,254)
Exchange realignment ME B (6,402) (2,640)
Other changes H b &
— Finance charges on lease liabilities *Tﬂ EEENVBER - 1,300
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HREEAE - 3,321
Total other changes Hib &84 - 4,621
At 31 December 2022 R-E_—_F+-A=+—H 351,931 18,523

20226 % BT EEEREaEAT 179



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. EXEmER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to AEFEEEEEARANBRANEER AT UNFEL
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders g BRREER RS AR IRR DR o
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s AEBREREBREE FFERETE -

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes AEENEAGLEEBERER  BERWE3 AT
the borrowings disclosed in note 31, and equity reserves attributable WENEENANEBHEA ARG ESFE
to owners of the Group, comprising issued share capital and various (BHEEETERARSEREALRERA)

reserves and retained profits.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part EETHRNELRERE - EARFT 23D &
of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks EEEENKANNGELIEREANBEH R
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the BEEENES  AEEBEETRMOEITR
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through T ER N ERIR A ER L EHEEE NG
new share issues and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing 7o

debts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)

(b)

B 75 5 3% BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

6. IR EE

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities (a SREERTMABENSE
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FH&xT FET
Financial assets at amortised cost REBERATENERHEE
Trade and bills receivables EUE Z IR W R & 135,945 167,113
Bank balance and cash WRITHEGE MRS 79,158 111,354
Loan receivables R E TR - =
Pledged bank deposits BRI TIER 8,252 3,603
Other receivables H b fE U R T8 86,700 33,199
Amount due from an associate TH&Z—F?H&%%’AT*” 38,015 38,679
Loan to an associate BT —EEt S N RIE R 20,803 22,063
368,873 376,011
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHERATENSHERS
Trade and bills payables FERTE SRR KR ERNRE 188,071 232,153
Lease liabilities HEaE 18,523 20,796
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 351,931 370,064
Other payables H e FUR 168,001 166,700
726,526 789,713
Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERKEEEBERBE
The Group's major financial instruments include trade, bills and AREENTEFHKITAEBIEEKE SR

other receivables, loan receivables, loan to an associate, amount

due from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances

and cash, trade, bills and other payables, lease liabilities and bank

and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are

disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these

financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these

risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors

these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

R BREREREMEMEKRRIE  BERE
F BT RHBEQRRNER Bl —
F?Eﬁ*““?mlﬁ EEMRITER - R

EEMREE  EBNESER  BNE
F&ﬁﬁﬂrﬁ“ﬁ LB - HE A BEUKREIT

NEMEE - Z2EHBTAFBERIAH
IFEE - TXEIIEZEFMBETAR
28 B0 LB K 4 ] B2 1 5% S LB B R SR
Eﬁ%’fﬁ&ﬁ* TRERR - ARRR
iR A R EUE B M o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)
Market risk

(i)

36. KA EE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEEZERBE(E)
% 2
Currency risk O
The Company’s subsidiaries have foreign currency sales and BRARAEMNERAEITINEE
purchases, which expose the Group to foreign exchange B AEBEEEINERR
risk.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency (as NS HAR - A& B AN (R
in relation to the functional currency of the relevant group REBEEETENEEEEmS )T
entities) denominated monetary assets and monetary ENEYEENEEAEMNERREE
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: AR
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT
Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EBoofF | ZBE-—% | ZB-C —E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT THER FHIT
RMB AR 9,579 6,174 847 18,121
usD =TT 45,548 46,747 297,323 304,663

The Group is mainly exposed to USD and RMB relative to the
functional currency of the relevant group entities, which are
mainly RMB and USD respectively. The Group does not have
a formal foreign currency hedging policy. But management
monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure and enters
into forward contracts when movements in the exchange
rates are outside management’s expected range in order to

minimise the exchange rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against USD and RMB. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes both USD and RMB monetary
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
A negative number below indicates an increase in loss
where USD and RMB strengthen 5% against the functional
currency. For a 5% weakening of USD and RMB against the
functional currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss for the year.

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

36. MIKEMEE(E)
(b) BMEEMEEBEZERBER(E)

w5 (&)

0

SN RV (4R )

BRE DT (&)
TRFHINAEEARSEEERIEE
EUAETIRARE LA RTRE
5% HYBURE © 5% 4% BT BR R B LR
xR RREEBHINEERNATBE
REEFMELNTME - FRED
R BERRERRAZTRA
REJIENEREEERAE - TX
FIRBEIERTRAREL RS
L Tr5%R - SEIEEM - =R
ETRARBHINEEE 5%
B IR AN FEBERELRE
MRFE -

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T

Increase in loss for the year: FREIEIE M
- RMB — AR 444 (586)
- UsD —X&TT (12,662) (12,969)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZETZ-—F+-_A=+—RILEE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(ii)

36. KA EE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEEZERBE(E)
Market risk (Continued) 5 E R (&)
Interest rate risk (i) A=
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in ANEBEEEA BENMH 21 ~ 22K
relation to fixed-rate loan to an associate, loan receivables M EBL T —HBERARNE
and pledged bank deposits set out in notes 21, 22 and 26 A EWER K EEFIRITESA
and fixed-rate bank and other borrowings. NGEBIRTT R EMEEN R FEF
KR o
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in AEE I A 27 PTENE BARTTAS
relation to variable-rate bank balances as set out in notes 27 FEFEBRITEEMEYRESRE
and variable-rate bank borrowings. FR@ER o
The exposures of the Group's borrowings to interest rate RBEER - AEEEERF X
changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows: FmASHRRIT
% of total 9% of total
2022 loans 2021 loans
HERBE HE R
—B-CfF WEAL | ZT=—%F MBS
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHIT
Variable-rate borrowings FEEER 147,857 42% 136,482 37%
Fixed-rate borrowings ESEE 204,074 58% 233,582 63%
351,931 100% 370,064 100%

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy in relation to interest rate risk. The Directors
monitor the exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider

hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the
Group's USD borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The bank balances of the Group carry floating-rates of
interest and have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Directors consider the exposure is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank and
other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
change is used and represents management’s assessment

of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's loss
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase or
decrease by HK$573,000 (2021: HK$503,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at 31
December 2022 in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise
the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are

made for irrecoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using

a provision matrix.

The following table provides information about the Group's

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31

December 2022:

B EREEGE)
(b) MBEAREERFERBEEE)

=B (&)

0

FEME 5 BRK
AEEEE

E’Jiﬁ#gﬂﬂﬁl%ﬁ%ﬁ%
I i PR SR fERT &

RRzHBEHERER

K E IR R

TREHABEASER T _—
T-A=+—HAZEKEZERRE
ERRRIEHEEBERENER

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate (%) amount allowance

FRHBEZR%) REAE BREE

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET

Not past due R HR 0% 110,025 293
Less than 3 month past due EHR DR =16 A 15% 20,862 3,228
3to 6 months past due AR =2 E A 15% 3,341 495
Over 6 months past due m HARR A< E A 95% 124,980 119,247
259,208 123,263

As at 31 December 2021:

RZEBE-_—F+=-_A=+—8":

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss

rate (%) amount allowance

8 HAE 18 2K (%) FREAE B

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Not past due A EA 3% 140,766 4416
Less than 3 month past due BELR=EA 8% 27,502 2,077
3 to 6 months past due wHE=FREA 38% 3,011 1,148
Over 6 months past due #HERRE N E A 98% 144,574 141,099
315,853 148,740
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The ECLs are disaggregated by different customer segments

as follows:

Media entertainment platform related products

As at 31 December 2022:

B %5 ¥Rk B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE

36. MIKEMEE(E)
(b) BMEEMEEBEZERBER(E)

EEE g (&)

) RREBZER(E)
EHMEERRETRATPENS R
LU

1R BB AR 4% 2= 1 BE B 7,
RZEBE_—_F+—-_A=+—H":

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
FAH B 1R 2 (%) IREAE R RE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Not past due R HA 18% 1,377 247
Less than 3 month past due wEI DR =18 A 30% 5,677 1,678
3 to 6 months past due BEI= 25 E A 42% 164 69
Over 6 months past due mHARR B @ A 98% 52,681 51,651
59,899 53,645

As at 31 December 2021: R-E-—F+-_H=+—8:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
TEERE 1R K (%) A B
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Not past due A% HA 21% 8,930 1,844
Less than 3 month past due EH DR = 1B A 31% 2,071 642
3 to 6 months past due wHA=F Rl A 37% 1,966 732
Over 6 months past due AHEERENEA 100% 73,773 73,773
86,740 76,991
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Other multimedia products
As at 31 December 2022:

36. KA EE (&)

(b) MBEAREERFERBEEE)

EEE g (&)
) RREBZER(E)
Hh Z 4R e dn

RZEBE_—_F+—-_A=+—H":

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
FAHE 1R = (%) IREAE =ty
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET THET
Not past due R HA 1% 4,458 46
Less than 3 month past due wE DR =18 A 7% 4,444 312
3 to 6 months past due BHEI= 275 E A 33% 940 307
Over 6 months past due AHERENEA 100% 65,518 65,518
75,360 66,183

As at 31 December 2021: RZFZ—F+ZA=1t—8:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
TAERE 1R K (%) A B iR
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET THET
Not past due R HER 4% 12,490 549
Less than 3 month past due EH DR = 1B A 10% 14,110 1,387
3to 6 months past due wHEI= = 7XE A 40% 1,045 416
Over 6 months past due s BAR @ /<8 A 100% 66,590 66,590
94,235 68,942
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products
As at 31 December 2022:
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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6. M e EE(H)

(b) MBEEREER